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Who we are

For years, 1Spatial technology has powered 
some of the world’s largest spatial databases for 
some of world’s largest geographical specialists; 
organisations such as Ordnance Survey Great 
Britain, US Census Bureau and the UK Ministry 
of Defence. Today – as location data from 
smartphones, the Internet of Things and great 
lakes of commercial Big Data increasingly drive 
commercial decision-making – our technology 
is used by a wide range of commercial and 
government organisations from utilities and 
telecoms businesses to emergency services and 
defence agencies.

1Spatial has a number of significant relationships 
with large industry leaders such as Oracle, HERE, 
ESRI and Microsoft and is continuing to develop 
these partnerships and engage with new partners in 
the advancement of the Group’s growth strategy. 

The Group’s geospatial technology enables 
organisations to manage, validate, integrate 
and interpret complex spatial data from different 
sources. 1Spatial automates the traditionally 
time-consuming functions of validating, correcting 
and consolidating information from disparate 
sources, thereby reducing costs and dramatically 
improving data update and production times. 

1Spatial specialises in the management of geospatial 
data – the location-specific data that increasingly informs 
the decision-making of organisations and individuals 
around the world.

Alongside 1Spatial’s core Geospatial division is 
the Group’s Cloud Services division which whilst 
having important, non-spatial customers of its own, 
provides additional capabilities that are critical to the 
Group’s business growth.

The Geospatial business represents the core 
1Spatial business which has statutory entities in the 
UK (Cambridge), Ireland, France, Belgium, Australia 
and subsequent to the year end, USA (Washington 
DC). 

The Cloud Services division represents the Enables 
IT business which is based in the UK and US 
plus the two smaller businesses in the group of 
Avisen and Storage Fusion. 1Spatial’s associated 
undertaking, Sitemap is also classified within this 
segment. 

The Group’s headquarters are in Cambridge, UK, 
and the Group employs over 250 people globally.

1Spatial plc is listed on AIM.
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Overview
Financial highlights

Record revenues from operations with an increase 
of 6% to 

£20.7m 
(2015: £19.6m), reflecting the inclusion of £3.2m of 
revenues from Enables IT acquired in July 2015

Strong recurring revenues of 

58% 
providing visibility of earnings

Improvement in gross profit 
margin from 55% to 

57% 

Increase in adjusted* EBITDA 
on prior year up 19% to 

£3.7m  
(2015: £3.1m)

Significant improvement in profit 
after tax to

£12k  
(2015: loss after tax of £1.5m)

Net cash position and robust 
period-end balance sheet 

£5m  
(2015: £7.8m net cash)

Strong secured order book maintained at 

£8.0m  
(2015: £7.0m) which includes new wins and 
consisting of a greater number of customers with a 
higher gross margin.

Acquisition of Enables IT Group plc for shares of

£1.8m  
on 23 July 2015

*Adjusted for strategic, integration, other one-off items and share-based payment charge 

Operational highlights

The momentum in the second half of the financial 
year has clearly illustrated the attractiveness of 
1Spatial’s solutions in its marketplace having 
recently secured a number of key contract wins 
including: 

• US$1m contract with a US Federal  
Government Agency 

• 1Integrate contract for US$1.1m with  
HERE USA 

• rolling contract with one of the UK’s leading 
transport infrastructure operators 

• £3m contract with a large US  
healthcare provider 

Consistently strong maintenance renewal levels 
(approximately 95% renewal rate). 

Significant focus on R&D activities with further 
development of its scalable open technology 
during the year, enabling 1Spatial’s products to 
integrate with enterprise technology vendors and 
thus widening the Group’s addressable market and 
expanding its global reach.

Further strengthening of 1Spatial’s relationship with 
key partner ESRI, a world leader in GIS technology 
with market revenues in excess of US$1.5bn1, and 
the global launch of the Group’s “1Integrate for 
ArcGIS” product, which runs on the ESRI platform.

Further delivery on US Census Bureau contract 
providing core infrastructure spatial technology 
enabling the Census team to lay the foundations for 
the 2020 decennial census.

Development of the US business with increased 
investment in sales and marketing; building 
relationships with US Census Bureau, key 
government organisations and with a large US 
healthcare provider. 

Acquisition of Enables IT in July 2015 has helped 
provide expertise and capability that augments 
the Group and significantly enhances its ability to 
support clients with a full-service managed solution, 
also allowing customers to pilot and adopt 1Spatial’s 
products much more quickly. 

London Stock Exchange recognised 1Spatial plc as 
one of the 1,000 Most Inspiring Companies for the 
third year running.

Post period-end
1Spatial US, Inc. acquisition (formerly Laser Scan Inc.)

On 29 February 2016, the Group exercised its call option to acquire a further 
26% of its US distributor Laser Scan Inc. (“LSI”) for US$1.3m payable in 
cash taking the Group’s total holding in LSI to 73%. LSI is the sole distributor 
of 1Spatial geospatial products and solutions across the Americas, which 
includes significant contracts with the US Census Bureau. The acquisition 
further strengthens 1Spatial’s position within the US market.

73%

1 See https://www.lloyds.com/~/media/files/the%20market/tools%20and%20resources/electronic%20
distribution/esri%20tls%2020151006.pdf
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Investment 
proposition
Geospatial market
The global market for “geo services” is large and 
growing quickly, generating annual revenues of 
US$150-US$270bn, roughly five times that of 
the video games industry2. Such services, from 
location-sensitive apps for smartphone users to 
effective asset management for utility firms, rely  
on the time- and cost-effective management of 
spatial data. 

Our Geospatial 
Credentials
1Spatial is a market leader in technology that 
manages the unique complexities of spatial Big 
Data. Tracing our roots back almost 50 years, 
we have widely recognised and unrivalled expertise 
in our field. 

We have a strong portfolio of IP, developed 
by providing solutions to the world’s largest, 
most sophisticated users of geospatial data; 
organisations like Ordnance Survey Great 
Britain, the UK Ministry of Defence and the  
US Census Bureau. 

Developing a scalable 
suite of software 
products
In recent years, our development strategy has been 
to take our portfolio of IP and develop a modular 
solution stack. This end to end modular mapping 
solution is called the 1Spatial Management  
Suite (1SMS).

Sales of the 1SMS have been successful in their 
own right; however, the Group has sought to extend 
its market reach by ensuring that the modular 
software products can be deployed on other 
companies’ solution platforms. 

The first product from the 1SMS stack to be 
integrated with another Group’s solution stacks is 
the 1Integrate product which has been integrated on 
the ESRI solution platform. This product is known 
as 1Integrate for ArcGIS and was launched globally 
in January 2016. 

ESRI is the global market leader in GIS and has 
around 350,000 customers globally and more than 
1,000,000 users3 for ArcGIS. 

Investment in 1Spatial plc is underpinned by the 
following advantages: 

• Industry partnerships with the likes of ESRI 
providing market and global reach

• Long-term, recurring revenue contracts with 
blue chip and government organisations

 2 Source: Oxera Consulting Ltd, What is the economic impact of Geo services? (January 2013)
 3 See http://www.esri.com/partners/partner_news/2014/spatial-dimension

Strong relationships with 
global partners
1Spatial has strong partnerships with industry 
leaders such as Oracle, ESRI, Microsoft and more 
recently HERE (previously known as Navteq). 
1Spatial is increasingly leveraging these partner 
relationships as part of its strategy to achieve 
scalable growth.

Robust revenues and 
strong gross margins
The Group has robust revenues with 53% 
being represented by recurring revenues on an 
annualised basis. The Group has dependable and 
respected customers including some of the world’s 
largest mapping agencies and data providers 
such as Ordnance Survey GB, Ordnance Survey 
Ireland, IGN France, US Census Bureau and HCA 
Healthcare. The software and maintenance renewal 
rates in the Geospatial business are 95% with cloud 
services having a 90% renewal rate. The Group has 
strong gross margins averaging in excess of 50%.

Strong balance sheet
1Spatial has a strong balance sheet with net assets 
in excess of £25m and £5m of cash. The Group  
has no debt.

Investors
1Spatial’s current shareholder base includes a 
number of large and very supportive institutional 
shareholders.

1111
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Our business is underpinned by long-term, recurring 
revenue contracts with blue chip and government 
organisations. These valued relationships 
have enabled us to fund our ongoing software 
development and the Board is confident that these 
fundamentals will underpin the next exciting stage 
of growth for the Group as it builds on its investment 
in critical technology.

Performance
The Group reports record revenues of £20.7m and 
an adjusted* EBITDA of £3.7m, with a significantly 
improved loss before tax of £0.8m. These results 
represent a 6% growth in revenues and a 19% 
increase in adjusted EBITDA and a 48% decrease 
in loss before tax. The acquisition of Enables IT 
and the inclusion of its results for six months has 
been a direct contributor for this increase. Given the 
relatively small investment of £1.8m that the Group 
made in the year, the Board believes the return on 
this is very positive. 

I am pleased to present the results  
for 1Spatial plc for the year ended  
31 January 2016. 

It has been another successful year of investing  
in the opportunities that geospatial Big Data 
presents. These investments, following the 
strategy that we set in 2012, has manifested 
in the continuing development of our modular, 
open-technology software solutions and in the 
expansion of our market reach. I am delighted that 
this progress and all of our hard work has been 
recognised by large international entities who are 
increasingly partnering with 1Spatial to provide 
them with critical geospatial capabilities.

Our hard work has 
been recognised by large 
international entities who 
are increasingly partnering 
with 1Spatial.

Chairman’s 
report

The Group enters the next financial year with an 
order backlog of £8m and a healthy pipeline of sales 
opportunities enhanced by the ESRI relationship. It 
also has a strong balance sheet with cash of £5m 
and zero debt. 

Corporate transactions
Azini Capital Partners LLP

In May 2015, 1Spatial plc raised £1.92m from a 
placing of new ordinary shares with Azini Capital 
Partners LLP. Azini is a specialist technology 
investor and the Board was extremely pleased 
to welcome an investor of this calibre as a 
shareholder. Azini’s investment represents a 
significant vote of confidence in 1Spatial’s evolving 
business model.

LSI

In February 2015 1Spatial plc acquired 47% of 
Laser Scan Inc. (LSI) for a cash consideration 
of US$2.25m (£1.5m). Just after the year end, in 
February 2016, the Group exercised its option to 
acquire a further 26% for the sum of US$1.3m 
(£0.9m). This brings 1Spatial plc’s total holding in 
LSI to 73%. 

LSI is the sole distributor for 1Spatial products 
and solutions across the Americas and the two 
companies have worked closely together on 
strategic accounts including the US Census Bureau 
and the Brazilian Army. LSI’s personnel already 
have expert knowledge of 1Spatial’s solutions, 
the business is a certified supplier to US Federal 
government departments and its key personnel 
have security clearance to work with the US 
Defence Department. This investment will secure 
1Spatial’s American base and bring additional 
opportunities across this significant market. 

Under the terms of the sale and purchase 
agreement, 1Spatial has an option to acquire the 
remaining 27% of LSI from 1 February 2017 for 

the total sum of US$1.25m, payable in cash or by 
the issue of new ordinary shares in 1Spatial. As a 
result, LSI’s option to buy back the stake has now 
fallen away.

Enables IT

In July 2015, 1Spatial plc acquired 100% of Enables 
IT Group plc, financed by the issue of £1.8m of new 
shares in 1Spatial plc. Enables IT is a provider of 
IT managed services with data centre facilities in 
the UK and US. As well as offices in the UK and 
US, Enables IT has additional telephone support 
facilities in South Africa. 

The acquisition brings important capabilities to  
the 1Spatial business. Enables IT ’s data centres,  
its Infrastructure-as-a-Service software platform  
and its expertise in providing hosted services 
will enable 1Spatial to expand the offering of its 
core geospatial software as a hosted – or cloud – 
service. Enables IT ’s service desk and managed 
service expertise allows 1Spatial to offer richer, 
round-the-clock support to its customers. 
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Things – are driving the growing importance of 
location-specific information. Today, the global 
market for geo-services generates annual revenues 
between US$150-US$270bn, and is experiencing 
double-digit annual growth.

As we look to the future, we will continue to forge 
the partnerships and develop the solutions to help 
organisations exploit their geospatial data.

1Spatial anticipated this trend and has been 
repurposing its expertise and intellectual property 
to meet the opportunity. Our software can now be 
deployed in a modular, scalable form across a wide 
range of sectors and scenarios. We are investing in 
software development while continuing to increase 
profits at both an adjusted* EBITDA level and a loss 
before and after tax level. 

1Spatial’s success, the business relationships it 
has built and the reputation it enjoys is entirely due 
to its management team and employees across 
the world. During the year we have invested 
significantly in our staff with a fully refurbished office 
at the Cambridge headquarters and new modern 
offices for the teams in our Liege office in Belgium. 
It is rewarding therefore to see the business 
recognised for the third year running as one of 
London Stock Exchange’s 1,000 Most Inspiring 
Companies. 

1Spatial people are approachable, smart, innovative 
and agile. As we look forward to future growth, I 
would like to take this opportunity to welcome those 
who have joined 1Spatial plc during the year and to 
thank everyone for their continuing hard work and 
dedication. 

David Richards
Interim Chairman

Both aspects help 1Spatial to meet increasing 
demand for more agile access to its expertise, 
underpinned by robust, resilient support. Pleasingly, 
during the year Enables IT secured a £3m contract 
with a large US healthcare provider. 

The Board
This is my second Statement as interim 
Non-Executive Chairman. The Board is actively 
recruiting a permanent replacement and hopes to 
announce a new Chairman at the AGM on  
11 July 2016.

Following Azini Capital Partners’ investment in 
1Spatial, we welcomed Nick Habgood to the 
Board as Non-Executive Director. Nick is the 
Founder and Managing Partner of Azini and he 
has brought substantial, board-level experience of 
helping technology companies execute on growth 
opportunities.

Corporate governance
1Spatial plc is committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance. The Board has 
well-established policies and procedures in place, 
which are designed to facilitate and ensure that 
strong ethical standards are met. 

Summary
1Spatial plc is continuing to successfully execute 
on the strategy it outlined in 2012. We have 
established new structures to support future growth, 
capitalised on opportunities where they aligned with 
our strategy and conducted strategic reviews on 
areas that were not performing as expected. Where 
necessary, we have made changes to adapt to 
market or other external forces. 

Technology trends – from the ubiquity of 
smartphones and the growth of wearable 
tech, through the rise of Big Data and cloud 
computing, to the emergence of the Internet of 

*Adjusted for strategic, integration, other one-off items and share-based payment charge 
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Strategic report
and the increasing prevalence of location-aware 
devices that produce geospatial data: smartphones, 
wearable tech, GPS systems, in-vehicle tracking 
devices and the burgeoning Internet of Things. 

There are sector-specific drivers as well. The 
utilities sector is increasing its focus on asset 
management; a considerable challenge in a sector 
with widely dispersed assets (pipelines, sewers, 
cables, sub-stations etc.) and historic records that 
are often incomplete and of uncertain quality. 

Government departments are increasing levels of 
collaboration and data-sharing both with partner 
organisations and with citizens (through Open Data 
initiatives). Frequently, the common element that 
unites datasets and drives insight is location; but 
this can be in different formats and of uncertain age 
and provenance. 

Commercial organisations continue to seek 
efficiencies and competitive advantage through 
location. When logistics firm UPS launched its 
famous No Left Turns policy in the US, it saved 3m 
gallons of fuel (and 31,000 tons of CO2 emissions) 
in a single year.4

In the retail sector, firms can combine proximity data 
from smartphones with the location of their stores  
to send location and time specific offers to passing 
(or even in-store) customers.

A significant opportunity

Overall, the economic benefits are enormous. 
A 2013 report by Oxera Consulting Ltd. on the 
economic impact of “geo services” estimated the 
total annual revenue generated by geospatial 
services was between US$150-US$270bn, 
roughly five times that of the video games industry. 
The report estimated that such services saved 
1.1bn hours of travel time, and 3.5bn litres of 

More than maps

Geospatial data is data that relates  
to location. 

This data is most obviously of interest to 
government departments and national mapping 
agencies; however, geospatial data has been 
growing in importance across many sectors, 
including: utilities, telecoms, emergency services, 
supply-chain and retail.

Chief Executive’s review

4 New York Times, Left-Hand-Turn Elimination, New York Times (2007), http://www.nytimes.com/2007/12/09/ 
  magazine/09left-handturn.html

There are many drivers for this growth, not least 
the continually falling price of computing power 
and storage (which enable cost-effective analysis) 

gasoline, each year; improvements to agriculture 
yielded global savings US$8-US$22bn and geo 
services’ globally added value was estimated to be 
US$100bn per year.5

All of this economic value is predicated on 
the quality of the underlying geospatial data. 
Authoritative data has value; Ordnance Survey’s 
reference dataset of the UK is independently valued 
as being worth £100bn.6

The increasing importance of geospatial information 
and analysis is reflected in successive analysts’ 
forecasts. Markets and Markets expect the global 
geospatial analytics market to grow at a CAGR of 
21.4%, from US$27.4bn in 2015 to US$72bn in 
2020. P&S Market Research foresees the global 
market for geographic information systems (GIS) 
growing at a CAGR of 11.4%, from US$7.6bn in 
2014 to US$14.6bn in 2020. Reports forecast the 
market for Cloud GIS to grow at a CAGR of 11.0% 
from 2016 to 2020.

For many organisations, GIS is central to their 
ability to understand the geospatial component 
of their business. However, the success of this is 
wholly dependent on the quality of the underlying 
spatial data. 

Typically, GIS vendors focus on the front-end of 
their systems – on the user interface and analytical 
abilities. Many offer relatively simple data validation 
tools, but their focus is not on data management – 
the collection, validation, correction, maintenance, 
extraction, publication and interpretation of 
geospatial data.

That is 1Spatial’s speciality. It is our heritage, our 
profession and our opportunity.

Review of the year ended  
31 January 2016 

It has been a year of substantial progress against 
our strategy.

We have continued to improve our financial results 
and we have made significant progress against our 

objective of realising the value of our unique IP  
and heritage. 

During the year, we have significantly strengthened 
our presence in the key US market; we have 
released a strategically important new product 
(1Integrate for ArcGIS); we have added capabilities 
that improve our overall offering and we have 
announced partnerships with two of the most 
important players in the GIS and mapping sector.

Results

Although the focus this year has been consolidation 
and targeted investment, I am delighted that during 
this period we have seen record levels of financial 
performance delivering revenue of £20.7m and 
adjusted EBITDA of £3.7m, 19% higher than the 
previous year. The Group also achieved a small 
profit after tax of £12k. 

The acquisition of Enables IT and the inclusion of its 
results for six months has been a direct contributor 
to these improvements, adding £3.2m to revenue 
and £0.6m to adjusted EBITDA. As outlined in 
more detail below, Enables IT brings important 
capabilities to the Group as well as underpinning 
our expansion in the important US market.

With the addition of Enables IT , we have two 
clearly defined operating divisions – GIS Solutions 
and Cloud Services – supported by a cost centre, 
Central Costs.

GIS Solutions 

GIS Solutions delivers 77% of the Group’s revenue 
and represents the core strategic focus of the 
business; the provision of software and services for 
the management of geospatial data. The division 
is underpinned by a number of recurring revenue 
contracts from large customers with well-established 
relationships. During the year, we announced 
additional new contracts including a US$1m 
extension contract with the US Census Bureau and 
a US$1.1m contract with HERE USA.

5 Oxera (for Google), What is the economic value of Geo services? (2013), http://www.oxera.com/Oxera/ 
   media/Oxera/downloads/reports/What-is-the-economic-impact-of-Geo-services_1.pdf 
6  See http://1spatial.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/1Spatial_CaseStudy_OrdnanceSurvey1.pdf 
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Cloud Services 

Cloud Services (representing 23% of revenue) 
provides important capabilities that extend the 
Group’s reach and ability to offer a complete 
solution to geospatial customers. These capabilities 
include hosting for cloud services (the acquisition of 
Enables IT brought data centre facilities in the US 
and UK), managed services, network services, 24/7 
support, storage management, project management 
expertise and business intelligence solutions.

The Cloud Services division also has a considerable 
base of non-geospatial customers, including 
well-known names such as Tesco and Unilever. 
In January 2016, the division announced a new 
£3m contract win with a global healthcare provider. 
The Cloud Services division comprises Enables 
IT, Avisen, Storage Fusion and its associated 
undertaking, Sitemap. 

As noted at the time of acquisition, Enables IT’s 
former Chief Executive Officer, Michael Walliss, 
now manages the Cloud Services division 
freeing 1Spatial’s management to focus on the 
development of the core Geospatial business.

Strategy and business model

Our objective is to release the untapped potential of 
1Spatial’s IP and rich heritage in the management 
of geospatial data. We are a leader in our field with 
almost fifty years’ experience and continue to be 
at the forefront of innovation with the value of our 
products being increasingly recognised by large 
international customers.

There is a growing demand by all organisations 
and corporations for the location-driven insights 
that can be derived from geospatial data. 
While organisations typically meet this demand 
by acquiring a GIS package, such solutions 
pre-suppose an adequate quality in the underlying 
geospatial data. In reality, this is seldom the case. 
1Spatial’s traditional customer base met this 
challenge by engaging 1Spatial to help manage 
the quality of their data; its collection, validation, 

correction, maintenance, extraction, publication and 
interpretation of geospatial data.

Historically, the Group’s expertise was the delivery 
of solutions for relatively few, very large, clients — 
the creators and users of some of the largest (and 
most critical) geospatial databases globally. This 
was achieved through bespoke projects leveraging 
resource-constrained professional services built on 
a fragmented code-base of software.

Since 2012, we have invested in the development 
of modular, “off-the-shelf” software, packaging 
45 years of innovation and 
expertise so that it can 
be effectively deployed 
for repeated and scalable 
use. Effectively, we have 
inverted our historic 
business model from one 
grounded in ad hoc, bespoke and 
constrained consulting services 
that drew on a fragmented 
code-base, to one where a 
robust and repeatable software 
model enables added-value 
professional services.

The first of these products was 1SMS, the 1Spatial 
Management Suite, which we launched in 2012/13. 
Bespoke projects continue, of course, and many 
complex projects – requiring significant additional 
professional services revenue – are now grounded 
in the 1SMS package. However, the new model 
enables us to focus our team of developers on a 

single, central code-base, an approach 
which yields technological 

advances that would not have 
been available under the 
previous approach of wholly ad 
hoc, bespoke projects.

We now have a business model that 
is repeatable and affordably scalable. 
Core functionality and reusable IP can 
be re-sold as packaged product and 
our valuable, highly-skilled people can 

be better deployed at the cutting edge; 
delivering innovation for our customers.

Valuable, reusable IP developed by our 
developers and consultants working on bespoke 
projects can be captured and fed into the 
development cycle for future iterations of our 
packaged software.

Open technology – at the heart of 
complex solutions

The nature of 1Spatial’s expertise means  
that our solutions are often found at the heart  
of complex installations, working alongside  
and inter-operating with the technology of  
other vendors.

Strong partnerships with other industry leaders 
have always been an important part of the 
1Spatial strategy. However, as the use of 
GIS grows outside of specialist geospatial 
organisations, we see increasing demand for 
different solutions to work together ever more 
seamlessly. Consequently, we have committed 
ourselves to provide software solutions that are 
‘open’ and which work well with key vendors 
in the field. We have seen two important 

developments during the year; 1Integrate for ArcGIS 
and HERE.

1Integrate for ArcGIS

In October 2014, we announced an important 
partnership with GIS market leader ESRI. ESRI, a 
privately held US company sometimes known as 
Environmental Systems Research Institute, has a 
43% share of the GIS market and around 350,000 
organisations use its core ArcGIS software. 

The first product of this partnership is 1Integrate for 
ArcGIS. This strategically important product makes 
1Spatial’s unique technology available directly from 
within the ESRI user interface. 1Integrate for ArcGIS 
opens up ESRI’s entire customer base to 1Spatial.

HERE

Our second partnership in pursuit of open 
technology is with HERE. HERE, previously known 
as Navteq, is a leader in the field of location 
intelligence, delivering precise and up-to-date maps 
and “location experiences” across multiple screens 
and operating systems. 

Drawing on more than 80,000 sources of data, 
HERE offers maps, voice guided navigation and live 
traffic information. With investment from Audi AG, 
BMW Group and Daimler AG, the business provides 
mapping solutions to consumers, the automotive 
sector and enterprise in general. Announced in 
January 2016, our partnership will enable customers 
to use 1Spatial technology to easily combine 
their own data with HERE’s high quality map data 
yielding significant operational efficiencies. 

Geographic expansion

The Group’s headquarters are in Cambridge, UK; 
our offices in USA, France and Belgium cover 
French-speaking markets, especially in Africa.  
We also have an Asia-Pacific office in Sydney, 
Australia and an office in Ireland. 

Enables IT’s US 
and UK data centres 
allow 1Spatial to offer 
its expertise as an agile, 
scalable and secure 
cloud service.

Strategy in action
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US Presence 

Our investment in LSI and the acquisition of 
Enables IT has significantly increased our presence 
in the important US market. 

LSI is the sole distributor for 1Spatial products and 
solutions across the Americas. Over the years, 
1Spatial and LSI have worked closely together 
on strategic accounts including the US Census 
Bureau, the US Army and the Brazilian Army. LSI 
is a certified supplier to US Federal government 
departments and key personnel have security 
clearance to work with the US Defence Department.

Enables IT, acquired in July 2015, brings expertise 
in managed and hosted services, a US office and 
data centre (as well as a data centre in the UK). 

Together, LSI and Enables IT significantly enhance 
our offering and capability in the US market. The 
US public sector is a significant customer sector for 
ESRI and, with our 1Integrate for ArcGIS product, 

we foresee the US government becoming an 
important market for us in the future.

Other geographic markets

We continue to drive business and promote our 
brand across our other geographic markets. 
A programme of sponsoring the most significant 
events in the geospatial calendar has seen the 
1Spatial brand promoted in Australia, the Far 
East, Middle-East, Europe and the Americas, often 
in association with partners like ESRI and Safe 
Software (publishers of FME).

1Spatial also continues its membership of influential 
bodies such as the OGC (the Open Geospatial 
Consortium), British Cartographic Society and 
NSGIC (the National States Geographic Information 
Council). During the year, 1Spatial became a Gold 
Partner of NSGIC and won the Space & Place 
Award from ORLOGI (the Irish Organisation for 
Geographic Information).

Leveraging our Geospatial expertise

During the period we continued to develop our 
data services platform known as Sitemap which 
leverages Open Data opportunities. This is an 
exciting opportunity for the Group which we will 
continue to develop and commercialise in Q3 of  
the next financial year.

Outlook

I am very pleased with the progress that 1Spatial 
has made this year. We have executed against our 
strategic objective of consolidation and targeted 
investment, and the Group is now well positioned  
to benefit from growth opportunities across  
key markets. 

We have improved our overall operating results 
while continuing our transition towards a more open 
and scalable business model. At every step the 
acquisitions we have made, the new products we 
have launched and the partnerships we have forged 
have created a stronger, yet more agile, business. 
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We continue to drive long-term shareholder value 
by investing in our spatial software and technology, 
developing innovative, off-the-shelf products and 
services and exploiting the opportunities across 
geographic markets.

The investments we have made, the growing 
demand for our products reflected in our strong 
order book, recurring revenues and our strong 
relationships with governments, service providers 
and customers across numerous markets mean  
that we look forward to still greater success in the 
year ahead.

Marcus Hanke
Chief Executive

Our investment 
in LSI (now known as 
1Spatial US, Inc.) – a 
registered supplier to US 
federal agencies, with 
security-cleared geospatial 
experts – gives us access 
to the valuable US 
government market.

Strategy in action
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Chief Financial 
Officer’s review

Driving long-term shareholder value

1Spatial’s prime objective is to 
generate value for its shareholders 
over the long term. 

To achieve this objective it has been necessary for 
the Group to invest in a number of key areas during 
the current year including new structures to support 
growth and significant investment in the Group’s 
Intellectual Property. Despite this backdrop, the 
Group has performed well during the period, with 
record revenues, adjusted* EBITDA and results 
before and after tax.

Investment areas

The key areas of investment during the year  
have been:  

• Leveraging the Group’s unique intellectual 
property through the development of its off 
the shelf suite of software products so they 
can work seamlessly with other technologies, 
providing a distinguished platform for future 
scalable revenue growth

• Establishing long-term sales pipeline of 
opportunities and recurring revenue streams

• Continual review of the current operating 
business to ensure operating efficiencies are 
optimised and that the Group is adapting to 
market and other external forces

• Acquisitions of new entities and partnerships 
with other companies in the sector to  
support growth

In my report, I will highlight how these areas above 
have impacted the results for the year. 

Record results 

Revenues, gross margins, adjusted* EBITDA, loss 
before tax and profit after tax have all improved on 
the previous year. 

The acquisition of Enables IT and the inclusion of its 
results for six months has been a direct contributor 
to this increase, adding £3.2m to revenues and 
£0.6m to adjusted EBITDA for the year. Given the 
relatively small investment of £1.8m that the Group 
made in the year, the Board is pleased with the 
returns this investment is already delivering. 

A summary of the results compared to the prior year, are set out below:

2016  
£m

2015  
£m

Variance
£m

Variance
%

Revenues 20.7 19.6 1.1 6%

Gross profit 11.8 10.8 1.0 9%

Gross profit % 57% 55% - -

Adjusted* EBITDA 3.7 3.1 0.6 19%

Loss before tax (0.8) (1.5) 0.7 (47%)

Profit/(loss) after tax 0.0 (1.5) 1.5 (100%)

The Group finished the year with £5m of net cash 
(2015: £7.8m) and net assets of £25.7m  
(2015: £21.0m).

Further information on the Group’s financial results 
and cash flows are summarised later in this report. 

Establishing new structures to  
support growth

During the year, the Company made the following 
corporate transactions which will enhance the ability 
of the Group to execute on its stated strategy: 

• Acquisition of 47% stake in Laser Scan 
Inc. (now 1Spatial US, Inc.) for £1.5m and 
subsequent to the year end taking a further 
stake for £0.9m taking our total holding to 73%

• Acquisition of 100% Enables IT Group plc  
for £1.8m

The Group is segmented into three key business 
segments, being:

• Geospatial

• Cloud Services

• Central costs
 
The Geospatial business represents the core 
1Spatial business which has offices in the UK 

(Cambridge), Ireland, France, Belgium, Australia 
and subsequent to the year end, USA  
(Washington DC). 

The Cloud Services division is represented by 
Enables IT plus the Group’s two smaller businesses; 
Avisen and Storage Fusion, and its associate, 
Sitemap. Enables IT’s former Chief Executive 
Officer, Michael Walliss, now manages the Cloud 
Services division freeing 1Spatial’s management 
to focus on development of the core  
Geospatial business.

Development of its off the shelf suite 
of software products that can work 
seamlessly with other technologies

The Group has invested significantly in its suite 
of software products in the year, in particular in its 
main 1SMS product and making this more readily 
able to be deployed onto other companies’ solution 
platforms. This development is key in securing  
long-term growth for the business.

The total amount spent in the period on this 
development and other development in the Group 
was £3.0m (2015: £2.4m) all of which has been 
capitalised in the Group’s balance sheet. 

*Adjusted EBITDA is stated net of certain strategic, integration, other one-off costs and share option charge. 
See note 7 to the Accounts for further information.
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A short-term consequence of this investment is 
that that there has been some negative impact on 
revenues in the year. 

This is because the development team has become 
resource-constrained and therefore the Group has 
had to be selective over certain revenue-generating 
projects that it has entered into. The Group retains 
strict criteria when assessing projects and these will 
only be entered into if they achieve a target gross 
margin or are of strategic importance to the Group, 
in which case a lower margin will be accepted. 

Establishing long-term sales pipeline 
and recurring revenues

The Group is constantly reviewing and evolving its 
sales model so it aligns with the Group’s strategy. 
The sales model has been developed and adapted 
for the financial year to January 2017 with a split of 
the teams between major accounts (large traditional 
accounts with mapping agencies/data providers 
where more bespoke software and services are 
provided) and non-major accounts where the 
sales are more transactional and will align to the 
1Integrate for ArcGIS sales. 

During the second half of the year the Group was 
successful in executing on a number of sales which 
will give rise to revenue in the next financial year 
and will create a platform for further sales growth in 
the future. These were:

• US$1m contract with a US Federal  
Government Agency 

• 1Integrate contract for US$1.1m with  
HERE USA 

• rolling contract with one of the UK’s leading 
transport infrastructure operators 

• £3m contract with a large US  
healthcare provider 

In addition, the Group announced a significant 
strategic partnership with HERE, a leader in 
navigation and mapping. The combination of 
1Spatial’s software and services with HERE’s high 
grade maps and content will enable end-customers 

to benefit from significant improvements in 
operational performance whilst providing substantial 
incremental sales opportunities for the Group.

At the end of the year, the Group had a strong 
growing pipeline of opportunities and a secured 
order book of opportunities to execute on. 

Continual review of the current 
operating business to ensure operating 
efficiencies are optimised

The Group achieved record gross margins in the 
period, which is significant given the fact that 
the acquisition in the year of Enables IT Group 
has lower gross margins due to the nature of its 
business. 

Revenues in the year in the Geospatial segment 
have been adversely affected by the execution of 
the software development strategy and also by 
external factors such as foreign exchange and 
pricing pressure in the French and Belgian markets. 
The French and Belgian market pricing pressure 
issue was ascertained at the end of the last financial 
year and was a key reason for the redundancies 
that were announced in January 2015 but paid in 
the financial year to January 2016.

Record results
Analysis by Segment

An overview of each of the business types is set out below:

Revenue 2016
£m

Revenue 2015
£m

Adjusted*
EBITDA 2016

£m

Adjusted*
EBITDA 2015

£m

Geospatial (at constant currency) 16.7 17.9 4.9 5.1

Cloud Services 4.8 1.7 1.1 0.5

Central costs - - (2.1) (2.5)

FX adjustment (constant currency**) (0.8) - (0.2) -

Reported numbers 20.7 19.6 3.7 3.1

*Adjusted EBITDA is stated net of certain strategic, integration, other one-off costs and share option charge. 
See note 7 to the Accounts for further information.

** Constant currency has been calculated by applying the previous year’s exchange rates to the current year’s 
figures in currency.

Geospatial

Figures in constant currency
2016  
£m

2015  
£m

Variance  
£m

Variance  
%

Revenues 16.7 17.9 (1.2) (7%)

Gross profit 10.2 9.9 0.3 3%

Gross profit % 61% 55% - -

Adjusted* EBITDA 4.9 5.1 (0.2) (4%)
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Revenues

Revenues have decreased compared to the prior 
period; however, as noted in the section above, 
management have taken steps to mitigate the 
impact on gross profit and adjusted* EBITDA. 
Management are still very confident with the future 
prospects of the business and envisage sales of 
the 1Integrate for ArcGIS product (particularly in 
the US market) having a positive impact on the 
numbers to 31 January 2017. A number of new 
sales were also closed prior to the year end and just 
after the year end; however, due to orders taken but 
products or services not delivered, these could not 
be recognised in the financial year to January 2016. 
Other key reasons for the decrease in the year are 
as follows:

• Deployment of the software development team 
onto the development of the products rather 
than being able to deliver service revenues for 
the Group

• Impact of the pricing pressure from government 
departments on the French and Belgian support 
and maintenance revenues

• Only engaging on contracts yielding target 
margin levels given resource constraints in 
development team (except in cases where the 
customer is strategically advantageous)

• 1Integrate for ArcGIS being launched later 
in the year than expected and therefore not 
having an impact on the results until the year 
ended 31 January 2017

The Group continues to have a strong support and 
maintenance renewal, which is still at a renewal 
rate in excess of 95%. With pricing pressure in the 
French and Belgian markets, we have sought to 
reduce prices where necessary to keep customers, 
maintaining some of the revenue stream whilst 
keeping the customers engaged for future upsell 
and cross sell opportunities. 

2016 2015

Licences 17% 19%

Services 42% 42%

Support and maintenance 41% 39%

The future revenue strategy is to increase the proportion of licence sales of the new product and these 
products would be sold on a subscription basis rather than a perpetual licence basis. 

Gross profit and adjusted* EBITDA

Whilst revenue growth has been lower than expected, gross margins have been strong and this is as a result 
of strong commercial discipline within the business and management of the cost base. Key objectives for the 
management and commercial teams have been to:

• Maintain 1Spatial’s strong recurring support and maintenance revenues

• Improve project management and margins on some of the longer term projects

• Implement strict processes and procedures on Bid/No Bid decisions for new contracts to ensure good 
gross margins are achieved

• Drive revenue mix towards more profitable licence sales

• Reduce costs in the French and Belgian business in line with loss of revenues

Adjusted* EBITDA is broadly in line with the prior year and is mainly as a result of the sustained gross  
profit figure. 

The key revenue streams in the Geospatial segment are:

• Licences – these are generally perpetual licences with an annual support and maintenance fee in the 
region of 20% of the upfront licence fee 

• Services – development and consultancy services to existing and new clients, utilising our Geospatial 
domain expertise 

• Support and maintenance – which have arisen on the back of perpetual licence sales

The Geospatial business has over 600 clients on recurring support and maintenance and the revenue streams 
are split as follows:
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2016 2015

Recurring revenue 48% 5%

Third-party software and products 20% 0%

Services 28% 66%

Licences 4% 29%

Gross profit and adjusted* EBITDA

The gross profit margin is less than the prior year due to the inclusion of the Enables IT business which 
has lower gross profit margins than that of Avisen and Storage Fusion. Following the year end, the Avisen 
business was transferred into the Enables IT business. 

Storage Fusion continues to offer its SRA software and has a number of important contracts that renew on 
an annual basis. We continue to invest in the SRA software and it is currently undergoing a complete ‘refresh’ 
with a new platform due for release in May 2016. 

The increase in adjusted* EBITDA is as a result of the acquisition of Enables IT.

The increase in the Cloud Services Revenue, gross profit and adjusted* EBITDA is due to the acquisition of 
Enables IT and its inclusion in the results for approximately six months. 

Revenues

The key revenue streams in the Cloud services division are:

• Recurring revenue*

• Third-party software and products

• Services 

* Managed/cloud services and support and maintenance

The Cloud Services business has approximately 130 clients on recurring revenue streams (managed services 
and/or support and maintenance) and the revenue streams are split as follows:

Cloud Services

2016  
£m

2015  
£m

Variance  
£m

Variance  
%

Revenues 4.8 1.7 3.1 182%

Gross profit 2.0 0.9 1.1 122%

Gross profit % 42% 53% - -

Adjusted* EBITDA 1.1 0.5 0.6 120%

2016
£m

2015
£m

Adjusted* EBITDA 3.7 3.1

Depreciation (0.4) (0.3)

Amortisation of intangible assets (1.5) (1.2)

Share-based payment charge (1.0) (0.7)

Strategic, integration and other one-off items (1.1) (2.3)

Operating loss (0.3) (1.4)

Net finance cost (0.1) (0.1)

Share of associates’ results (0.4) -
Loss before tax (0.8) (1.5)

Tax 0.8 -

Profit/(loss) for the year - (1.5)

* Adjusted EBITDA is stated net of certain strategic, integration, other one-off costs and share option charge. 
See note 7 to the Accounts for further information. 

To breakeven after tax for the year is a significant improvement of a loss in 2015 of £1.5m. This is largely the 
result of the improved adjusted* EBITDA, reduced strategic, integration and other one of items and a tax credit 
offset by increased share option charge and amortisation. 

Amortisation of intangibles

Overall, amortisation of intangible assets has increased on the prior year by £0.3m. The main reason for the 
increase is amortisation of development costs which have had a full year of amortisation in the current year 
compared to part of the year in 2015. The amortisation starts as the product development finishes and the 
products are launched to market. There will be an increase in amortisation in future financial years given the 
extent of product development that has taken place with products starting to be launched to market. 

Central costs
Excluding share option charges, strategic, integration and other one-off items, head office costs were £2.1m in 
the year, which is a reduction of £0.4m on the prior year of £2.5m. The main reason for this reduction was cost 
saving efficiencies in the year coupled with recharges of costs to associated undertakings for the time spent 
by the central team on these businesses during the period (LSI and Sitemap). With the central infrastructure 
now in place, we do not expect head office costs to increase significantly as the Group increases in size. 

Overall result for the year
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Share-based payment charge

The share option charge represents the ‘non-cash’ charge under IFRS 2 attributable to issuing share 
options this financial year. The increase in this charge is due to some new share options that were issued to 
management in March 2015. This is part of the Group’s strategy to attract, motivate and retain talent within 
the business. 

Strategic, integration and other one-off items

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Costs associated with corporate transactions and other 
strategic costs 689 514

Integration costs associated with Enables IT and Laser 
Scan Inc. business 121 -

Integration costs associated with French and Belgian 
business - 402

Loss-making contract release in Belgium (254) -

Defined benefit pension provision in France 454 -

Loss on sale of building in Belgium 272 -

Training and other costs associated with the implementation 
of the new ERP system 11 78

Restructuring and redundancy costs of French and Belgian 
business 75 1,135

Restructuring and redundancy costs of other business 54 88

Release of liability for sales tax exposure (411) -

Other 129 128

Total 1,140 2,345

Given the recent acquisitive nature of the business, the Group incurs one-off costs which impact the overall 
underlying results of the business. Where possible the Group seeks to separate these out along with any 
other one-off items which the Board believe should be shown separately in this category. 

A summary of key transactions within this category, are set out above with further details provided in note 
7. The overall figure has decreased compared to the prior year with the majority of all the redundancy and 
restructuring costs in France and Belgium being finalised in 2015 with only a small amount in relation to this  
in 2016.

Corporate transactions (LSI, Enables IT and 
Sitemap) have given rise to the majority of the 
£0.7m of cost in relation to corporate transactions 
and other strategic costs. The majority of the 
rebranding and integration costs of Enables IT 
have been incurred by the end of the year.

Tax

The tax credit for the Group is £0.8m (2015: credit 
of £5k). This is partially as a result of research and 
development claims in the year, and partially as 
a result of deferred tax recognised on the French 
pension provision, on the reversal of the original 
fair value adjustment on the sale of the building in 
Belgium, and on tax losses.
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Statement 
of financial 
position

The Group has a strong balance sheet 
at 31 January 2016 with net assets of 
£25.7m (2015: £21.0m). 

Non-current assets:

Intangible assets and goodwill

Intangible assets and goodwill increased by £4.2m 
as a result of additions of £5.6m (development costs 
of £3m and customer relationships, goodwill arising 
on acquisition of Enables IT of £2.6m) offset by 
amortisation of £1.5m. 

Property, plant and equipment

This increased by £1.1m in the period mainly as 
a result of the acquisition of Enables IT of £0.7m. 
Other investments in fixed assets in the period 
included datacentre equipment for Enables IT, 
US datacentre assets (providing more capacity 
to sell to future customers) and leasehold 
property improvements at the UK headquarters in 
Cambridge. 

Interests in associate

This represents the interest in Sitemap Ltd and LSI. 
Subsequent to the year end, the Group increased 
its stake in LSI resulting in it now being a subsidiary 
undertaking. LSI has also changed its name to 
1Spatial US, Inc.

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables were £10.8m, an 
increase of £3.4m on the prior year. One of the main 
reasons for this increase is due to the inclusion 
of the Enables IT balances of £1.8m along with 
increases in trade debtors across the rest of the 
Group. In the prior year, certain large trade debtor 
invoices were paid just before the year end, but this 
was not the case at 31 January 2016.

Cash balance

The cash balance reduced from £8.2m in the prior 
year to £5m. The analysis of this is discussed in the 
cash flow section below.

Assets classified as held for sale

The balance of £1m at 31 January 2015 related 
to the Group’s property in Liege, Belgium, which 
was put on the market and sold in January 2016 
for £0.7m. The loss of £0.3m on the disposal of 
the asset has been recorded in the profit and loss 
account for the year. The team in Liege have now 
moved to more modern rented premises near the 
centre of Liege and this has had a positive impact 
on the working environment and staff morale of the 
team in Liege. 

Current liabilities: 

Trade and other payables have increased by £2.4m, 
which is mainly as a result of additional liabilities 
due to the inclusion of Enables IT liabilities of £2.8m 
plus a decrease in liabilities across the rest of  
the Group. 

There are no borrowings at the end of January 
2016. Following the sale of the building in Liege, all 
debt was repaid due to the debt being secured on 
the building.

Provisions have decreased in the period by £0.8m.

Non-current liabilities

Given there are no borrowings, the only balances 
in this classification are the defined benefit pension 
obligation of £0.5m (none at the previous year end) 
and deferred tax liabilities of £1.1m. The decrease 
of £0.6m in the deferred tax liability is explained in 
the Tax section on page 31.

Share capital and reserves

Share capital and reserves increased by £4.7m in 
the year mainly as a result of the share placing in 
May 2015 for £1.9m and the share issue for the 
Enables IT acquisition for £1.8m. 
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January 2016 
£m

Adjusted* EBITDA 3.7

Exceptional items (paid) (2.1)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (0.8)

Expenditure on product development and intellectual property capitalised (3.0)

Working capital movements (2.2)

Investment in Laser Scan Inc. (1.5)

Issue of shares 1.9

Exercise of warrants 0.1

Cash acquired on Enables IT acquisition 0.5

Building sale proceeds 0.7

Effect of forex (0.1)

Net cash outflow (2.8)

Opening net cash 7.8

Closing net cash 5.0

* Adjusted EBITDA is stated net of certain strategic, integration, other one-off costs and share option charge. 
See note 7 to the Accounts for further information

Whilst there was a net cash outflow in the period, the above summary details some of the key cash outflows 
which are strategically important for the Group including the transaction with LSI (US distributor based in 
Washington) and the investment in the R&D activities. From a trading perspective the main cash outflow 
was the payment of exceptional costs which includes transaction costs in relation to the acquisitions and 
reorganisation costs of approximately £1.1m in relation to the French and Belgian businesses which were 
accrued in January 2015 but paid out in February 2015. 

The Company was pleased to secure an investment from Azini Capital in May 2015 which strengthened the 
balance sheet position. In addition the Group sold its building in Liege, Belgium which gave rise to £0.7m of 
proceeds on sale. 

Cash flow
The year end cash and cash equivalents position was £5m (2015: £8.2m). The net cash position was £5m 
(2015: £7.8m). The net cash position in 2016 is the same as the cash and cash equivalents position due to the 
debt being repaid in January 2016 as noted above. 

A cash flow bridge is presented below which reconciles the adjusted* EBITDA to the year end cash balance. 
This is a different format to the presentation shown in the Accounts on page 54. 
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Key performance indicators 
(KPIs)
The table below shows the main KPIs used to manage the Group’s objectives during the year. These are 
growth in revenue, growth in total gross profit and growth in adjusted* EBITDA. 

Taking the business overall, we met our KPIs which were to improve revenue, gross profit and adjusted* 
EBITDA compared to the prior year. However, as Enables IT was acquired six months into the current year, 
the KPIs have also been provided on a like-for-like basis excluding Enables IT. 

KPI Met Total 2016
£m

Total 2015
£m

Variance 
£m

Variance 
%

Overall - including Enables IT

Revenue growth Yes 20.7  19.6 1.1 5.6%

Gross profit growth Yes 11.8 10.8 1.0 9.3%

Adjusted* EBITDA growth Yes  3.7  3.1 0.6 19.4%

Overall - excluding Enables IT (note 1)

Revenue growth No  17.6 19.6 (2.0) (10.2%)

Gross profit growth No 10.6 10.8  (0.2) (1.9%)

Adjusted* EBITDA growth Yes 3.1 3.1 0.0 0%

Geospatial (note 2)

Revenue growth No 16.0 17.9 (1.9) (10.6%)

Gross profit growth No 9.8 9.9 (0.1) (1.0%)

Adjusted* EBITDA growth No 4.7 5.1 (0.4) (7.8%)

Cloud services - Excluding Enables IT (note 3)

Revenue growth No 1.6 1.7 (0.1) (5.9%)

Gross profit growth No 0.8 0.9 (0.1) (11.1%)

Adjusted* EBITDA growth No 0.5 0.5 0.0 10.6%

Central costs

Revenue growth N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Gross profit growth N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Adjusted* EBITDA growth Yes (2.1) (2.5) 0.4 (16.0%)

Note 1 – Overall reduction in revenues and gross 
profit mainly as a result of reduced revenues and 
gross profit from the Geospatial division.

Note 2 – Overall revenues are down on constant 
currency basis to £16.7m which is a £1.2m 
decrease on the prior year. As noted in the Results 
review above, management has taken steps to 
mitigate the impact on gross profit and adjusted* 
EBITDA. Management are still very confident 
with the future prospects of the business and 
envisage sales of the 1Integrate for ArcGIS product 
(particularly in the US market) having a positive 
impact on the numbers to 31 January 2017. For 
more information on these variances, please refer to 
the Results review section. 

Note 3 - Given these are non-core businesses, the 
small variances on these are not significant. 
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The management of the business and the execution 
of the Group’s strategies are subject to a number of 
risks. In the opinion of the Board, the key business 
risks affecting the Group are as follows:

Customer budget cutbacks/economic 
conditions

Risk 
Due to the recent recession and the continuing slow 
growth cycle in Western economies, companies 
and, in particular, government agencies are under 
more pressure to cut costs. They may require 
a robust business case before investing in IT 
products and services which can have the effect of 
lengthening deal sales cycles and reducing  
deal size. 

Mitigation 
Whilst this is a risk, it is also an opportunity for 
1Spatial. Our automated technology enables 
customers to achieve greater internal efficiencies 
and therefore should reduce customers’ costs in the 
long run. The Group is also mitigating this risk by 
diversifying the industry sectors in  
which it works. 

In addition, 1Spatial has decreased the cost base 
in the French and Belgian entities where there  
is more pressure on pricing from local  
government agencies. 

Identification and integration of 
synergistic acquisitions

Risk
There is a risk that the Company may not identify 
suitable acquisitions for merging with the existing 
business. There is also a risk that acquisitions 
identified may not be successful, either because the 
acquisition itself was not as expected or because of 
poor integration. 
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Mitigation
The Board believes that this risk is medium. The 
Group has a pipeline of opportunities compiled 
through constantly researching the market 
and through networking by the Board with its 
advisers and other industry contacts. In respect 
of the acquisition itself, the Board undertakes 
appropriate due diligence in advance. With respect 
to the successful integration and operation of 
the acquired businesses, this risk is mitigated 
by a very structured approach to the integration 
process, dedicated teams and careful monitoring of 
performance post acquisition. 

Key management and employees may 
leave the business

Risk
There is a risk that key management and 
employees leave the business, having a detrimental 
effect on the operations of the business. 

Mitigation
In order to mitigate this risk, the Group aims to 
create a rewarding working environment that will 
attract staff by offering competitive salaries and 
benefits, structured career paths, tailored training 
and by encouraging a culture of free thinking and 
innovation. During the year, share options were 
issued to Executive Directors and key members 
of the management team. The decision to issue 
share options has been taken as part of the Group’s 
strategy to attract, motivate and retain talent within 
the business and further mitigate this risk.

Reliance on key customers

Risk
The Group has some reliance on certain key 
customers; however, this risk is decreasing as more 
acquisitions and partnerships are entered into. 

Mitigation
The management team maintains good 
relationships with its customers through continued 
communication throughout the year. The Group’s 
strategy of acquisition and diversifying into different 
industry and geographic markets will reduce the 
Group’s over-reliance on a small set of customers. 

A major technology failure may 
adversely disrupt operations 

Risk
There could be a major technology failure which 
adversely affects operations. 

Mitigation
1Spatial plc prepares recovery plans for all 
foreseeable situations so that business operations 
can continue should a major failure occur. In terms 
of IT, all files are backed up off site and all staff have 
access to laptops to continue working should such 
an incident occur. The Group is close to completing 
the move of most IT infrastructure to third-party 
providers. This will reduce the risk and cost of 
managing the infrastructure and of reliance on key 
individuals in the team. In addition, the Group has 
insurance to cover periods adversely affected by 
such failures. 

Currency fluctuation

Risk
Currency exposures on revenue and purchases in 
foreign currencies. 

Mitigation
The Group seeks to reduce foreign exchange 
exposures arising from transactions in various 
currencies through a policy of matching, as far as 
possible, receipts and payments in each individual 
currency.

Principal risks and 
uncertainties

Future 
developments
Future developments have been described 
throughout this report. We are on a journey to 
realise significant shareholder value by more 
effectively leveraging our expertise, intellectual 
capital and partner relationships.

Future developments will follow this path. 

Signed by order of the Board

C Milverton
4 May 2016
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Directors’ 
report
The Directors present their annual 
report on the affairs of the Company 
and the Group, together with the 
audited consolidated financial 
statements and the independent 
auditors’ report for the year ended 
31 January 2016 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by  
the EU.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group is the 
development and sale of IT software along with 
related consultancy and support. The principal 
activity of the Company is that of a parent holding 
company which manages the Group’s strategic 
direction and underlying subsidiaries.

1Spatial plc is a company incorporated in England 
and Wales. The registered office of the Company is 
c/o Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited, 
First Floor, 40 Dukes Place, London EC3A 7NH.

Details of the business activities during the year can 
be found in the strategic report on pages 16 to 39.

Results and dividends

The results for the Group for the year and the Group 
and Company’s financial position at the end of the 

year are shown in the attached financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a 
dividend (2015: £Nil).

Business review and future 
developments

The requirements of the business review have been 
considered within the Chairman’s report on pages 
12 to 14 and the strategic report on pages 16 to 39.

Research and development

The Group performs research and development 
activities as described within the strategic report 
on pages 16 to 39. The Group expenses research 
activities to the statement of comprehensive income 
and capitalises development activities should the 
cost meet the relevant criteria. During the year, 
£3.0m was capitalised (2015: £2.4m) and £0.8m 
(2015: £1.4m) was expensed. 

Changes in share capital

Details of movements in share capital are set out in 
note 21 to the financial statements.

Post balance sheet events

On 29 February 2016, the Group exercised its call 
option to acquire a further 26% of its US distributor 
Laser Scan Inc. (“LSI”) for US$1.3m payable in cash 
taking the Group’s total holding in LSI to 73%. LSI is 
the sole distributor of 1Spatial geospatial products 
and solutions across the Americas, which includes 

significant contracts with the US Census Bureau. 
The acquisition will strengthen 1Spatial’s position 
within the US market. The US market is a significant 
Group and will be a key area of focus for the next 
financial year. 

As part of the agreement signed on 3 February 
2015, 1Spatial has the right to acquire the remaining 
27% of LSI from 1 February 2017.

Further information on these is contained in note 31 
to the financial statements.

Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with 
the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position are set out in the strategic 
report on pages 16 to 39 along with the Company’s 
financial position and its cash flows. In addition, 
note 3 to the financial statements includes the 
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing its capital; its financial risk management 
objectives; details of its financial instruments; and 
its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Company has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial 
statements. 

Directors’ indemnities

As permitted by the Articles of Association, the 
Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a 
qualifying third-party provision as defined by Section 
234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity 
was in force throughout the last financial year and 
is currently in force. The Company also purchased 
and maintained throughout the financial year 
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect 
of itself and its Directors.

Employees 

The Group places considerable value on the 
involvement of its employees and has continued 
its practice of keeping them informed of matters 
affecting them as employees and the various factors 
affecting the performance of the Group.

The Directors recognise that continued and 
sustained improvement in the performance of the 
Group depends on its ability to attract, motivate 
and retain employees of the highest calibre. 
Furthermore, the Directors believe that the Group’s 
ability to sustain a competitive advantage over the 
long term depends in a large part on ensuring that 
all employees contribute to the maximum of their 
potential. The Group is committed to improving the 
performance of all employees through development 
and training.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer. The 
Group’s policies seek to promote an environment 
free from discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and to ensure that no employee or 
applicant is treated less favourably on the grounds 
of gender, marital status, age, race, colour, 
nationality or national origin, disability or sexual 
orientation or is disadvantaged by conditions or 
requirements which cannot objectively be justified. 
Entry into, and progression within the Group, is 
solely determined on the basis of work criteria and 
individual merit.

The Group continues to give full and fair 
consideration to applications for employment 
made by disabled persons, having regard to 
their respective aptitudes and abilities. The 
policy includes, where practicable, the continued 
employment of those who may become disabled 
during their employment and the provision of 
training and career development and promotion, 
where appropriate.
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Directors 

The Directors who served the Company during the year or have been appointed thereafter are shown below: 

M Hanke 

C Milverton 

M Sanderson 

D Richards (Non-Executive Interim Chairman)

M Yeoman (Non-Executive)

N Habgood (Non-Executive)              appointed 26 October 2015

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 
Marcus Hanke and Michael Sanderson will be retiring as Directors and, being eligible, offering themselves for 
re-election as Directors of the Company. 

Substantial interests

The Directors have been notified of the following substantial shareholdings in excess of 3% of the voting share 
capital of the Company as at 15 April 2016:

Name Number of shares Percentage of issued 
shared capital

Azini Capital Partners 94,731,819 13.31%

Hargreave Hale Ltd 88,031,018 12.36%

J O Hambro Capital Management 73,375,000 10.31%

Legal & General Investment Management 61,572,397 8.65%

Liontrust Asset Management 58,754,859 8.25%

Octopus Investments 35,125,337 4.93%

Mike Sanderson 30,000,000 4.21%

Marcus Hanke 28,999,086 4.07%

Threadneedle Asset Management 23,127,775 3.25%

Except as referred to above, the Directors are not aware of any person who was interested in 3% or more of 
the issued share capital of the Company or could directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise control.
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the Group 
and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Group and parent company financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the Directors 
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

• state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the Group and parent company financial statements respectively.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the website. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Principal risks and 
uncertainties
For further details on principal risks and uncertainties, refer to the strategic report on pages 16 to 39.   

Directors’ responsibilities 
statement in respect of the 
annual report and the financial 
statements

Financial 
instruments
Financial risk management objectives 
and policies

During the year the Group’s principal financial 
instruments are bank loans, bank overdrafts 
and cash. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s 
operations. The Group has various other financial 
instruments such as trade receivables and trade 
payables which arise directly from its operations. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial 
instruments have been cash flow and fair value 
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk 
and capital risk. The Board reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks and they 
are summarised below. 

Cash flow and interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are 
substantially independent of changes in market 
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to risk for 
changes in interest rates is related primarily to the 
Group’s bank loan and overdraft obligations. Bank 
loan and overdraft interest is charged on a variable 
rate basis. The Group’s exposure to interest rate 
risk is limited given the level of debt in place. Should 
substantial facilities be put in place in the future 
then the Board will consider the impact of such 
facilities and whether it will be appropriate to hedge 
the interest rate risk. 
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Independent 
auditors
In accordance with Section 489 of the 
Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be re-appointed will 
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Annual 
General 
Meeting
Notice of the Annual General Meeting to be held on 
11 July 2016 is set out in the circular included with 
this document.

Signed by order of the Board

C Milverton (Director)
4 May 2016

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and independent credit checks and credit 
limits are managed by the trading entities. Credit limits can only be exceeded if authorised by the 1Spatial plc 
Board. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to 
bad debts is not significant. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents with banks and financial institutions.  
For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are accepted. 

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain sufficient funds to support the ongoing strategic and trading activities 
of the Group. The detailed forecasting is carried out at local level in the operating companies of the Group. 
This is combined into a group cash flow forecast. The Group forecasts are compared to available facilities to 
ensure that sufficient headroom is anticipated. Subsequent to the year end, in April 2016, the Group’s facilities 
were increased with the provision of a £3m overdraft facility from their bankers, Natwest plc. 

Price risk 

The main price risk that the Group is exposed to is changes in the price of third-party software and 
maintenance that it uses in the solutions it supplies to customers. When quoting for business, the Group 
always obtains fixed-price quotations from suppliers before submitting a price to the customer.

Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of return of capital 
and dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets/businesses to reduce debt. The Group 
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

Disclosure of information to 
auditors
Each of the Directors of the Company at the date on which this report has been approved confirms that:

• so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware; and

• each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of 1Spatial plc
Report on the group 
financial statements
Our opinion

In our opinion, 1Spatial plc’s group financial 
statements (the “financial statements”):

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s affairs as at 31 January 2016 and of its 
profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the 
European Union; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the annual 
report, comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 January 2016;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union.

In applying the financial reporting framework, 
the directors have made a number of subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates. In making such estimates, 
they have made assumptions and considered future 
events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic 
Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required 
to report by exception

Adequacy of information and explanations 
received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received 
all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit. We have no exceptions to report arising 
from this responsibility. 

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures 
of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 
made. We have no exceptions to report arising from 
this responsibility. 
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Responsibilities for the financial 
statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the 
directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities Statement in respect of the annual 
report and the financial statements set out on page 
44, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). 
Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the company’s members 
as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or 
to any other person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements 
involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs 
(UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: 

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the group’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 

• the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these areas by 
assessing the directors’ judgements against 
available evidence, forming our own judgements, 
and evaluating the disclosures in the financial 
statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling 
and other auditing techniques, to the extent we 
consider necessary to provide a reasonable 
basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit 
evidence through testing the effectiveness of 
controls, substantive procedures or a combination 
of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, 
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the company 
financial statements of 1Spatial plc for the year 
ended 31 January 2016.

Simon Ormiston (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cambridge
4 May 2016
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Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Revenue 5 20,738 19,598

Cost of sales (8,960) (8,804)

Gross profit 11,778 10,794

Administrative expenses (12,119) (12,260)

(341) (1,466)

Adjusted* EBITDA 3,677 3,052

Less: depreciation 11 (427) (267)

Less: amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 10 (1,474) (1,183)

Less: share-based payment charge 23 (977) (723)

Less: strategic, integration and other one-off items 7 (1,140) (2,345)

Operating loss 6(a) (341) (1,466)

Finance income 8 74 30

Finance costs 8 (105) (86)

Net finance cost 8 (31) (56)

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using the 
equity method 12 (421) -

Loss before tax (793) (1,522)

Income tax credit 9 805 5

Profit/(loss) for the year 5 12 (1,517)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Parent 12 (1,517)

Non-controlling interest - -

12 (1,517)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 31 January 2016

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss:

Actuarial gains arising on defined benefit pension, net of tax 19 56 -

Exchange differences arising on translation of net assets of 
foreign operations (140) (316)

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (84) (316)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (72) (1,833)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Parent (72) (1,833)

Non-controlling interest - -

(72) (1,833)

* Adjusted for strategic, integration, other one-off items (note 7) and share-based payment charge.

Basic 26 0.00 (0.23)

Diluted 26 0.00 (0.23)

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share expressed in pence per ordinary share: The financial statements on pages 50 to 117 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 4 May 
2016 and signed on its behalf by: 

C Milverton 
Director 

Share capital and reserves
Share capital 21 16,223 15,572

Share premium account 21 22,264 20,608

Own shares held 21 (306) (306)

Equity-settled employee benefits reserve 22 2,688 1,711

Merger reserve 22 15,347 13,900

Reverse acquisition reserve 22 (11,584) (11,584)

Currency translation reserve 22 (432) (292)

Accumulated losses (18,533) (18,601)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 25,667 21,008

Notes 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Assets
Non-current assets

Intangible assets including goodwill 10 18,859 14,729

Property, plant and equipment 11 1,638 552

Interests in associates 12 1,577 500

Total non-current assets 22,074 15,781

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 10,815 7,453

Current income tax receivable 391 134

Cash and cash equivalents 14 4,996 8,250

Assets classified as held for sale 15 - 994

Total current assets 16,202 16,831

Total assets 38,276 32,612

Consolidated statement of financial position  
Registered number: 5429800
As at 31 January 2016

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 (10,686) (8,301)

Current income tax liabilities - (22)

Borrowings 17 - (242)

Provisions 18 (344) (1,151)

Total current liabilities (11,030) (9,716)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17 - (191)

Defined benefit pension obligation 19 (457) -

Deferred tax 20 (1,122) (1,697)

Total non-current liabilities (1,579) (1,888)
Total liabilities (12,609) (11,604)
Net assets 25,667 21,008
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Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (a) (721) 379

Interest received 74 30

Interest paid (105) (86)

Tax received/(paid) 55 (21)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (697) 302

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash acquired with subsidiaries 25 465 -

Acquisition of investment in associate 12 (1,498) (500)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (841) (258)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 52 37

Proceeds from sale of building (asset previously held for 
sale) 15 687 -

Expenditure on product development and intellectual 
property capitalised (3,011) (2,363)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,146) (3,084)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase in borrowings - 38

Repayment of borrowings (438) (47)

Net proceeds of share issue 21 1,940 -

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 1,502 (9)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,341) (2,791)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 8,250 11,165

Effects of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents 87 (124)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (b) 4,996 8,250

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 January 2016 

Non-cash transactions

The principal non-cash transaction is the issue of shares as consideration for the acquisition disclosed  
in note 25.

Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Loss before tax (793) (1,522)

Adjustments for:

Share of net loss of associates 421 -

Net finance cost 31 56

Depreciation 427 267

Amortisation 1,474 1,183

Share-based payment charge 23 977 723

Net foreign exchange movement (202) -

Loss on disposal of building (asset previously held for sale) 15 272 -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 18 -

Decrease in inventories - 15

Increase in trade and other receivables (2,710) (1,020)

Increase in trade and other payables 134 192

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (1,283) 485

Increase in defined benefit pension obligation 513 -

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (721) 379

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Decrease in cash in the year (3,341) (2,791)

Net cash inflow in respect of new borrowings - (38)

Net cash outflow in respect of borrowings paid 438 47

Changes resulting from cash flows (2,903) (2,782)

Effect of foreign exchange 82 (82)

Change in net funds (2,821) (2,864)

Net funds at beginning of year 7,817 10,681

Net funds at end of year 4,996 7,817

Analysis of net funds
Cash and cash equivalents classified as:

Current assets 4,996 8,250

Bank and other loans - (433)

Net funds at end of year 4,996 7,817

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows  
(a) Cash (used in)/generated from operations

 (b) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds 
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1. General information

The consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 January 2016 comprise 
1Spatial plc (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(together ‘the Group’). 

The principal activities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries are described within the Directors’ 
report, pages 40 to 46.

The Company is a public limited company which 
is listed on the AIM London Stock Exchange and 
is incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The 
address of its registered office is Capita Company 
Secretarial Services Limited, 1st Floor, 40 Dukes 
Place, London, United Kingdom, EC3A 7NH. 

2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have 
been applied consistently throughout the year 
except where otherwise indicated.

Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of 1Spatial 
plc have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU), IFRIC (International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee) interpretations and 

the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention. 

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
and complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Going concern

The Directors have formed a judgement that, at the 
time of approving these financial statements, there 
is a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources and likely income to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future 
and therefore adopt the going concern basis for the 
financial statements. 

Audit exemption 

Subsidiary undertakings Avisen Group Limited, 
Avisen UK Limited, Storage Fusion Limited, 
Strategy GPS Limited, Socium Limited, 1Spatial 
Holdings Limited, 1Spatial Technologies Limited, 
Xploite Limited, Enables IT Group Limited and 
Enables IT Limited have claimed the audit 
exemption under Companies Act 2006 Section 479A 
with respect to the year ended 31 January 2016. 

Notes to the 
financial statements
For the year ended 31 January 2016

The Group parent company, 1Spatial plc, has 
given a statement of guarantee under Companies 
Act 2006 Section 479C, whereby 1Spatial plc will 
guarantee all outstanding liabilities to which the 
respective subsidiary companies are subject as at 
31 January 2016.
 
Adoption of new and revised 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs)

The accounting policies adopted in these 
consolidated financial statements are consistent 
with those of the annual financial statements for the 
year ended 31 January 2016, with the exception 
of the following standards, amendments to and 
interpretations of published standards adopted 
during the year:

(i) New standards, amendments and 
interpretations affecting amounts 
reported in the financial statements

There have been only minor improvements to 
existing International Financial Reporting Standards 
and interpretations that are effective for the first 
time for the financial year beginning on or after 
1 February 2015 which have been adopted by 
the Group with no impact on its consolidated 
results or financial position as they impact certain 
presentational and disclosure matters.

(ii) New standards, amendments 
and interpretations adopted with no 
significant impact upon amounts 
reported in the financial statements

The following amendments to existing standards 
and new interpretations became effective in the 
current year, but have no significant impact on the 
Group’s financial statements:

Annual improvements 2013 (endorsed for 
annual periods on or after 1 January 2015). The 
amendments include changes from the 2011-12-13 
cycle of the annual improvements project that affect 
4 standards:

• IFRS 1, ‘First time adoption’

• IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’

• IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ and

• IAS 40, ‘Investment property’

(iii) New standards, amendments and 
interpretations issued but not effective 
for the financial year beginning 1 
February 2015 and not adopted early

Amendment to IAS 19 regarding defined benefit 
plans. These narrow scope amendments apply 
to contributions from employees or third parties 
to defined benefit plans. The objective of the 
amendments is to simplify the accounting for 
contributions that are independent of the number of 
years of employee service.

Annual improvements 2012. These amendments 
include changes from the 2010–12 cycle of the 
annual improvements project, that affect the 
following standards:

• IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’

• IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’

• IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’

• IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 
38, ‘Intangible assets’

• Consequential amendments to IFRS 9, 
‘Financial instruments’, IAS 37, ‘Provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ and

• IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments – Recognition 
and measurement’
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Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’ and IAS 3, ‘Intangible assets’, on 
depreciation and amortisation. In this amendment 
the IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-
based methods to calculate the depreciation of 
an asset is not appropriate because revenue 
generated by an activity that includes the use of 
an asset generally reflects factors other than the 
consumption of the economic benefits embodied in 
the asset. The IASB has also clarified that revenue 
is generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis 
for measuring the consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in an intangible asset.

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’, 
is a converged standard from the IASB and FASB 
on revenue recognition. The Directors are assessing 
the impact of this.

IFRS 16, ‘Leasing’. The Directors are assessing the 
impact of this.

Amendments to IAS 27, ‘Separate financial 
statements’ on the equity method. These 
amendments allow entities to use the equity method 
to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial 
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial 
statements’ and IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates 
and joint ventures’. These amendments address an 
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 
10 and those in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The main consequence 
of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is 
recognised when a transaction involves assets that 
do not constitute a business, even if these assets 
are housed in a subsidiary.

Annual improvements 2014. These amendments 
impact the following standards:

• IFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held for sale  
and discontinued operations’, regarding 
methods of disposal

• IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, 
(with consequential amendments to IFRS 1) 
regarding servicing contracts

• IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’, regarding  
discount rates

• IAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’, regarding 
disclosure of information

Basis of consolidation
 
The results and net assets of all subsidiary 
undertakings acquired are included in the statement 
of comprehensive income and consolidated 
statement of financial position using the purchase 
method of accounting from the effective date at 
which control is obtained by the Group. Subsidiary 
undertakings cease to be consolidated from the 
date at which the Group no longer retains control, or 
from the date that the subsidiary is classified within 
disposal groups held for sale. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. All inter-company 
balances and transactions are eliminated in full. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed 
where necessary to ensure consistent policies 
across the Group. 

Business combinations 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are 
accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value 
of the assets given, equity instruments issued 
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of 
exchange. Where there is deferred consideration 
payable in cash, the amount is discounted to its 
present value. The present value of deferred cash 
consideration is included within the Group’s financial 

statements as a liability. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured initially at 
their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess 
of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition 
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do 
not result in loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions – that is as transactions with 
owners in their capacity as owners. The difference 
between the fair value of any consideration paid and 
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of 
net assets of the subsidiary is regarded as equity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to  
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief 
operating decision-maker has been identified as 
the Board of Directors which makes the Group’s 
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation 
 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each 
of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in UK sterling which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency. Foreign currency 
adjustments arise on translating the overseas 
subsidiaries into the Group’s presentation currency.  
 

(b) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which  
they arise. 

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group 
entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency 
as follows:

i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of 
financial position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial 
position;

ii) Income and expenses for each statement of 
comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect 
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at 
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised 
as a separate component of equity.

(d) Goodwill and intangibles
 
Goodwill and intangibles adjustments arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 
translated at the closing rate.
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Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for software 
licences, support and maintenance, professional 
services and software development services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. 
Revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards 
of ownership have passed to the customer and is 
shown net of Value Added Tax, rebates, discounts 
and after eliminating sales within the Group. Where 
a sale includes multiple elements, where the fair 
value of each element can be reliably valued, the 
elements are separated. Where this is not possible 
the revenue is spread over the period relating to the 
element with the longest recognition period.

The fair value of the revenue for each element 
of the arrangement is then accounted for in 
accordance with the policies described below.

Software licence revenue

Revenue is recognised when the software is 
delivered and accepted by the customer.  
Software revenue is recognised depending on 
licensing terms:

1. For a licence in perpetuity, where there are no 
further obligations and there is determination that 
collection of fee is reasonably assured, the revenue 
is recognised at the time the licence is delivered; 
and

2. For a licence that has a fixed term, where there 
are further obligations the revenue is recognised 
over the term of the licence.

Support and maintenance 

Where the support and maintenance is sold for a 
fixed term and there is a continuing performance 
obligation, then the revenue is deferred and 
recognised over the term of the agreement on a 
straight-line basis.

Where fees for support and maintenance are 
bundled with the licence fee, they are unbundled 
using the Group’s objective evidence of the fair 
value of the elements represented by the Group’s 
customary pricing for each element in separate 
transactions.

Professional services

Revenue is recognised as the work is carried out 
and the Group has the contractual right to receive 
the consideration.

Software development services

Revenue is recognised upon stage of completion of 
the software project. The percentage of completion 
of the project is arrived at by a considered objective 
review as to the work that has been carried out, 
against that which is yet to be completed, to allow 
the project to be delivered to the customer. These 
reviews are carried out throughout the project. 

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 
that discounts the estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount.

Deferred costs and deferred revenues 

To the extent that the cost and revenue recognition 
differs from the contractual billing terms, costs are 
included in deferred costs or accruals and revenue 
is included in accrued income or deferred income.

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs, which are costs which relate 
directly to a contract and which are incurred once 
the award of the contract is probable but prior to 
its award, are capitalised and written off over the 
period of the contract to match the expected  
profit profile.
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Strategic, integration and other one-off 
items 

The Group has certain strategic, integration 
and other one-off items, e.g. acquisition costs, 
compromise agreements and redundancy 
payments. Management has disclosed these 
separately to enable a greater understanding of the 
underlying results of the trading business so that 
the underlying run rate of the businesses can be 
established and compared on a like-for-like basis 
each year. 

The policy of the Group is to separately disclose the 
following:

• Strategic costs, e.g. costs of due diligence on 
acquisitions which cannot be capitalised under 
IFRS 3 (revised) and costs of other strategic 
items such as aborted due diligence costs.

• Integration costs, such as bonuses, duplicated 
costs, or redundancy and compromise payment 
costs.

• One-off items that will affect the underlying 
profitability of the business. 

Adjusted EBITDA is the profit prior to the charge 
of share options, amortisation and strategic, 
integration and other one-off items.

Current and deferred income tax 

The tax charge for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit 
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and 
laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date. 

Taxable profit differs from loss as reported in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
because of items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and items that 
are never taxable or deductible.

Tax relief is available for certain qualifying research 
and development (“R&D”) expenditure incurred 
by group companies. During the year, the Group 
elected to claim R&D relief under the Finance 
Act 2013 Schedule 14 R&D Expenditure Credit 
(“RDEC”) scheme on qualifying expenditure 
incurred from 1 April 2013. The irrevocable election 
provides a 10% R&D expenditure credit, which is 
included in revenue and is subject to tax. Qualifying 
expenditure incurred up to 31 March 2013 has been 
claimed under the super-deduction regime set out in 
CTA 2009 Part 13.

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised 
for all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. 

A deferred tax liability is provided on intangible 
assets acquired as part of a business combination. 
This results in an increase in residual goodwill by 
the same amount. This liability has been recognised 
in accordance with IAS12. This liability is only 
payable if the intangible asset is sold separately and 
this is not expected to happen.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, 
based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the financial 
year. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities 

and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, 
at the end of the financial year, to recover or settle 
that carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is 
recognised as an asset at the date that control is 
acquired. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost 
of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. If, after 
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the 
sum of the consideration transferred, the excess 
is recognised immediately in profit and loss as a 
bargain purchase gain. Goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Any impairment is charged to 
the statement of comprehensive income and is 
not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of 
an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose 
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to 
those CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
business combination in which the goodwill arose, 
identified according to the operating segment.

(b) Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

An intangible asset acquired as part of a business 
combination is recognised outside goodwill if the 
asset is separable or arises from contractual  
or other legal rights and its fair value can be 
measured reliably.

Expenditure on internally developed intangible 
assets, excluding development costs, is taken to 
the statement of comprehensive income in the year 
in which it is incurred. Development expenditure is 

recognised as an intangible asset only if all of the 
following conditions are met: an asset is created 
that can be identified; it is probable that the asset 
created will generate future economic benefits; it is 
technically feasible that the asset can be completed 
so that it will be available for use or sale and there 
are sufficient available resources to complete it; and 
the development costs can be measured reliably. 
The types of costs capitalised include employee 
costs and subcontractor costs directly associated 
with development activity.

The amount initially recognised for internally 
generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when the 
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria 
listed above. Where no internally generated 
intangible asset can be recognised, development 
expenditure is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which it  
is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally 
generated intangible assets are reported at  
cost less accumulated impairment losses.  
Internally generated intangible assets consist  
of development costs.

Amortisation is charged to profit or loss. 
Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised on 
a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, 
as follows:

• Brands – 5 to15 years

• Customer and related contracts – 5 to 15 years

• Software and intellectual property – 3 to 10 
years

• Development costs – 2 to 5 years

• Website costs – 3 years
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation. These are 
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its 
working condition for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment, 
less their estimated residual value over their expected useful lives on the following basis:

The Directors annually review the residual value and estimated useful lives of the property, plant  
and equipment. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in income.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations’.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the 
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 

Leasehold property improvements straight line over period of lease

Motor vehicles 33% per annum – straight line

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 20% to 33% per annum – straight line

Buildings 4% per annum – straight line

Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. 
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent 
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of  
the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for 
using the equity method from the date on which 
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition 
of the investment in the associate, any excess of 
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, 
which is included within the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the 
period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36, ‘Impairment of 
assets’ are applied to determine whether it is 
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. 
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for 
impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single 
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher 
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) 
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss 
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent 
that the recoverable amount of the investment 
subsequently increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest 
in an associate but the Group continues to use 
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit 
or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had 
previously been recognised in other comprehensive 
income relating to that reduction in ownership 
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified  
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate 
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate are recognised in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 
to the extent of interests in the associate that are 
not related to the Group.
 
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amount will be recovered through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. The condition is regarded as met only when 
the sale is highly probable and the asset is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as  
a completed sale within one year from the date of 
the classification.

Financial assets 

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans 
and receivables. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in 
current assets, except for maturities greater than  
12 months after the reporting date. These are 
classified as non-current assets. The Group’s 
financial assets comprise ‘trade and other 
receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the 
statement of financial position.
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(a) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers 
for services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection is expected in one year or 
less they are classified as current assets. If not, 
they are presented as non-current assets. 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default 
or delinquency in payments are considered 
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
amount of the provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the provision 
for impairment of trade receivables, and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income within administrative 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account 
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against 
administrative expenses in the statement of 
comprehensive income.
 
(b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of 
financial position comprise readily accessible cash 
at bank and in hand. Bank accounts held which 
have an original maturity of more than three months, 
or which are subject to significant restrictions 
over access, are not presented as cash and cash 
equivalents. Such amounts are shown separately as 
short-term investments or other financial assets with 
appropriate disclosure of the related terms.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.
 
Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as trade 
and other payables and borrowings according to  
the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into.

(a) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay 
for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. 
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities 
if payment is due within 12 months or less. If not, 
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

(b) Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value 
less directly attributable transaction costs. After 
initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost; any difference 
between the proceeds and the redemption value 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Borrowings are classified 
as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of a liability 
for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will 
be required to settle that obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of  
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking 
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation.

(a) Restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the 
Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in 
those affected that it will carry out the restructuring 
by starting to implement the plan or announcing 
its main features to those affected by it. The 
measurement of a restructuring provision includes 
only the direct expenditures arising from the 
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not 
associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

(b) Loss-making contracts

Present obligations arising under loss-making 
contracts are recognised in full on identification of 
the contract being loss-making and measured as 
onerous contract provisions. An onerous contract is 
considered to exist where the Group has a contract 
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received under it.

Share capital 
  
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares, share options or share warrants are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from  
the proceeds.

67



2016 Annual Report

68 69

The amount charged or credited to finance costs 
is a net interest amount calculated by applying the 
liability discount rate to the net defined  
benefit liability.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in 
the income statement.

For defined contribution plans, the company pays 
contributions to publicly or privately administered 
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. The company has no 
further payment obligations once the contributions 
have been paid. The contributions are recognised 
as employee benefit expense when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available.

(b) Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, 
share-based payment compensation plans, under 
which the entity receives services from employees 
as consideration for equity instruments (options) of 
the Group. The fair value of the employee service 
received in exchange for the grant of the options is 
recognised as an expense over the vesting period. 
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting 
period is determined by reference to the fair value 
of the options granted, excluding the impact of 
any service and non-market performance vesting 
conditions (for example, profitability and sales 
growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions 
are included in assumptions about the number of 
options that are expected to vest. At each reporting 
date, the entity revises its estimates of the number 
of options that are expected to vest. It recognises 
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if 
any, in the statement of comprehensive income, 
with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

Where options are exercised, the Company issues 
new shares. The proceeds received net of any 
directly attributable transaction costs are credited 
to share capital (nominal value) and share premium 
when the options are exercised.

Employee benefits
  
(a) Pensions

The Group operates various post-employment 
schemes, including both defined benefit and defined 
contribution pension plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the company pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity. The company has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions 
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay 
all employees the benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. A defined 
benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined 
contribution plan.

The defined benefit plan defines an amount of 
pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, dependent on factors such as age, years 
of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in 
respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at 
the end of the reporting period (there are no plan 
assets). The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows 
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related  
pension obligation.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising 
from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to 
shareholders’ funds in other comprehensive income 
in the period in which they arise.

Leases

Assets held under leases that result in group 
companies receiving substantially all the risks  
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases and capitalised as property, plant and 
equipment at the lower of cost and the estimated 
present value of the underlying lease payments. 
Rentals under operating leases are charged to  
the statement of comprehensive income on  
a straight-line basis over the period of  
the lease.
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3. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk factors 
  
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow and fair value 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
  
Risk management is carried out by the finance team under policies approved by the Board of Directors.  
The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas,  
such as interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign exchange risk and use of derivative financial instruments  
and non-derivative financial instruments. 

(a) Foreign currency risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

During the year, the Group had operating subsidiaries in Australia, the United States, Belgium, France and 
Ireland, whose revenues and expenses are denominated in Australian dollars, US dollars or euros, and an 
associate in the United States whose revenues and expenses are denominated in US dollars.

The sterling statement of financial position is exposed to potential foreign currency losses on translation of the 
net assets of these subsidiaries. The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

Net assets/(liabilities)

At 31 January
2016
£’000

At 31 January
2015  
£’000

At 31 January
2016

CU’000

At 31 January
2015  

CU’000

Euros 4,027 1,753 5,292 2,332

Australian dollars (69) 93 (139) 181

US dollars 1,812 1,299 2,580 1,956

New Zealand dollars 7 - 16 -

Norwegian kroner 7 7 83 83

Danish kroner - - - (1)

Canadian dollars 6 21 12 40

Moroccan dirham 535 322 7,552 4,622

Tunisian dinar 2 - 5 -

Moroccan dirham 6,327 3,495

Australian dollar 
currency impact

Euro 
currency impact

US dollar 
currency impact

At 31 Jan
2016
£’000

At 31 Jan
2015
£’000

At 31 Jan
2016
£’000

At 31 Jan
2015
£’000

At 31 Jan
2016
£’000

At 31 Jan
2015
£’000

Profit/(loss) 14 5 (97) 16 (5) *

Net assets/(liabilities) 109 94 (970) (65) 124 *

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening of the currency unit (CU) against 
sterling. The sensitivity adjusts their translation at the year end. 10% represents management’s assessment of 
the reasonably possible movement in exchange rates.

The Board does not consider it appropriate to borrow in Australian dollars, in euros or in US dollars in order to 
hedge against this translation risk as they consider any hedging benefits would be outweighed by the creation 
of an interest rate risk on the borrowings.

* No impact at 31 January 2015 as the US subsidiary, Enables IT Inc. was acquired in the current  
financial year.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to risk in the year ended 31 January 2015 for changes in interest rates related primarily 
to the Group’s bank borrowings relating to bank loans in 1Spatial Belgium, which were repaid by 31 January 
2016. Interest was charged at fixed rates between 2.19 and 4.86%. Group exposure to interest rate risk is 
reduced given the repayment of the debt. 

Financial liabilities
At 31 January

2016
£’000

At 31 January
2015
£’000

Fixed rate - 433

There is no interest on trade and other payables at 31 January 2016 (2015: nil).

Sensitivity analysis

Given that the Group repaid all of its borrowings during the year, any changes in the base rate in the UK will 
not impact the borrowings.

The Group does not consider the cash flow and fair value interest rate risk to be significant. Should substantial 
debt be put in place in the future the Board will consider whether it would be appropriate to hedge the cash 
flow and interest rate risk. However, no such instrument has been taken out in the current or prior year. The 
Board will continue to keep this position under review.
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Cash and cash 
equivalents

At 31 January
2016
£’000

At 31 January
2015
£’000

At 31 January
2016

CU’000

At 31 January
2015

CU’000

Sterling 1,205 5,005 1,205 5,005

Euros 1,843 2,005 2,421 2,668

Australian dollars 86 61 173 118

US dollars 1,408 1,092 2,005 1,644

Moroccan dirham 454 87 6,401 1,247

4,996 8,250

Cash and cash equivalents are placed upon deposit at the best market rates available should an excess 
above that required for working capital be held.

Other financial assets comprise trade receivables and other receivables as detailed in note 13.

(c) Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed by the trading entities. Credit risk arises from exposure to outstanding customer 
receivables. Credit checking is used; however, if there is no independent rating, management will assess the 
credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board.

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents with banks and financial institutions. For banks and 
financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are accepted.  

The table below shows the ageing of customer receivables at the reporting date (shown net of provision of 
impairment). Refer to note 13 for further details.

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Current 4,008 2,609

Up to 3 months overdue 1,684 902

3 to 6 months overdue 251 67

6 to 12 months overdue 43 135

> 12 months overdue 38 20

6,024 3,733

Financial assets
At 31 January

2016
£’000

At 31 January
2015
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,996 8,250

(d) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity is managed so that sufficient funds are maintained to support the ongoing strategic and trading 
activities of the Group. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s expected cash flow. The detailed 
forecasting is carried out at local level in the operating companies of the Group. This is combined into a group 
cash flow forecast.  

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the 
impact of discounting is not significant.

At 31 January 2016
Less than 1 year

£’000

Between 
1 and 2 years

£’000

After 
2 years
£’000

Borrowings - - -

Trade and other payables* 4,415 - -

Provisions 344 - -

4,759 - -

At 31 January 2015
Less than 1 year

£’000

Between 
1 and 2 years

£’000

After 
2 years
£’000

Borrowings 242 55 136

Trade and other payables* 4,028 - -

Provisions 1,151 - -

5,421 55 136

*Excludes deferred income as it is not a financial liability as there is no obligation to pay cash. This also 
excludes also statutory liabilities such as other taxation and social security.
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(e) Capital risk 
  
The Group’s objectives when managing capital 
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 
  
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 
paid to shareholders and return of capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets/
businesses to reduce debt. 
  
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the 
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net 
funds/(debt) divided by total capital. Net funds is 
calculated as cash and cash equivalents less total 
borrowings (including ‘current and non-current 
borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated statement 
of financial position). Total capital is calculated as 
‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial position sheet plus net debt. 
  
During 2015, the Group’s strategy, which was 
unchanged from 2014, was to maintain the gearing 
ratio below 50%, but at 31 January 2016 it has no 
need for borrowings so no gearing ratio analysis is 
currently meaningful.

The Group’s borrowings are not subject to any 
covenants given that the Group repaid all of its 
borrowings during the year.

(f) Price risk 

The main price risk that the Group is exposed to is 
changes in the price of third-party software support 
and maintenance that it uses in the solutions it 
supplies to customers. When quoting for business, 
the Group always obtains fixed-price quotations 
from suppliers before submitting a price to  
the customer. 

4. Significant accounting estimates and 
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and judgements 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below.

Revenue recognition

The contractual arrangements of sales are often 
complex with multiple elements, e.g. software and 
maintenance. Management has to make appropriate 
judgements and estimates in relation to the fair 
value of each of these elements in accordance with 
the guidance set out in IAS 18. 

Where a project extends over a time period, 
management makes a judgement on the fair 
value of the work completed in order to be able 
to recognise revenue in relation to the project in 
the correct periods. An objective review of each 
project is undertaken on an individual basis and 
management’s best judgement is used as the basis 
of completion of the project, thereby defining levels 
of revenue recognised.

Allocation of fair value – when a bundled service is 
sold, the Group uses critical judgement to unbundle 
the service and recognise elements of revenue 
separately as shown in the revenue recognition 
policy in note 2.

Loss-making contracts

Present obligations arising under loss-making 
contracts are recognised in full on identification of 
the contract being loss-making and measured as 
onerous contract provisions. An onerous contract is 
considered to exist where the Group has a contract 
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the obligations under the contract exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received under 
it. Judgement exists in the estimation of the future 
costs to complete a project.

Defined benefit pension scheme

The Group has an obligation to pay pension 
benefits to certain employees. The cost of these 
benefits and the present value of the obligation 
depend on a number of factors, including; life 
expectancy, salary increases, leaver assumptions 
and the discount rate on corporate bonds. 
Management estimates these factors in determining 
the net pension obligation in the balance sheet. 
The assumptions reflect historical experience and 
current trends. See note 19 for the disclosures of 
the defined benefit pension scheme.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill 
has suffered any impairment, in accordance 
with the accounting policy. The recoverable 
amounts of cash-generating units have 
been determined based on value in use. 
Management has also had to make 
significant estimates and judgements 
when putting together the budgets and 
projections which are used in the value 
in use calculations. These judgements 
are mainly in relation to projected 
revenues and margins.

Valuation of intangible assets

Management has to make a number of estimates 
and judgements when valuing intangible assets, 
for example expected growth rates, attrition rates, 
useful economic lives and royalty rates. These 
estimates and judgements have to be updated 
when intangibles are reviewed for impairment, 
which was the case in the current year. Refer to 
note 10 for further details.

Capitalisation of development expenditure

Management has to make judgements as to 
whether development expenditure has met the 
criteria for capitalisation or whether it should be 
expensed in the year. Development expenditure 
is capitalised only after its reliable measurement, 
technical feasibility and commercial viability can  
be demonstrated.
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5. Segmental information

Management has determined the operating 
segments based on the reports reviewed by the 
Board that are used to make strategic decisions.

The United Kingdom is the home country of the 
Group. For management purposes during the 
year, the Group was organised into the following 
operating divisions – Central costs, Geospatial 
(1Spatial Group including France and Belgium 
and Laser Scan Inc.) and Cloud, previously 
‘Other’ (Avisen, Enables IT, Storage Fusion and 
Sitemap). These divisions are the basis on which 
the Group reports its segmental information. The 
Geospatial business represents the core 1Spatial 
business which has offices in the UK (Cambridge), 
Ireland, France, Belgium, Australia and the USA 
(Washington DC). The Cloud Services division 
represents the Enables IT business plus the two 
smaller businesses in the Group, of Avisen and 
Storage Fusion. The Central costs mainly represent 
costs associated with 1Spatial plc including costs 
of the Board of Directors and other costs which are 
not specific to any of the other segments. Examples 
of cost include the Group accounting function and 
marketing. It also includes costs associated with 
being an AIM listed company and other statutory 
costs including audit fees. 

The Board assesses the performance of the 
operating segments based on a measure of 
adjusted EBITDA. This measurement basis 
excludes the effects of strategic, integration and 
other one-off items from the operating segments.
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The segment information provided to the Board for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 January 
2016 is as follows:

31 January 2016
Central costs 

£’000
Geospatial 

£’000
Cloud
£’000

Total 
£’000

Revenue - 15,957 4,781 20,738

Cost of sales - (6,172) (2,788) (8,960)

Gross profit - 9,785 1,993 11,778

Total administrative expenses (3,216) (7,480) (1,423) (12,119)

Adjusted EBITDA (2,105) 4,659 1,123 3,677

Less: depreciation (74) (220) (133) (427)

Less: amortisation and impairment of 
intangible assets - (1,114) (360) (1,474)

Less: share-based payment charge (690) (286) (1) (977)

Less: strategic, integration and other 
one-off items (347) (734) (59) (1,140)

Total operating (loss)/profit (3,216) 2,305 570 (341)

Finance income 9 65 - 74

Finance cost (3) (95) (7) (105)

Net finance income/(cost) 6 (30) (7) (31)

Share of net loss of associates 
accounted for using the equity method - (148) (273) (421)

(Loss)/profit before tax (3,210) 2,127 290 (793)

Tax - 495 310 805

(Loss)/profit for the year (3,210) 2,622 600 12

Results attributable to  
non-controlling interests - - - -

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (3,210) 2,622 600 12

Segment assets 1,304 28,536 8,436 38,276

Segment liabilities (1,241) (8,132) (3,236) (12,609)

Segment net assets 63 20,404 5,200 25,667
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The revenue from external parties reported to the Board is measured in a manner consistent with that in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

The amounts provided to the Board in the year ended 31 January 2016 with respect to total assets and total 
liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial statements. Assets are allocated 
based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset. Liabilities are allocated based 
on the operations of the segment.

31 January 2015
Central costs 

£’000
Geospatial 

£’000
Cloud
£’000

Total 
£’000

Revenue - 17,934 1,664 19,598

Cost of sales - (8,000) (804) (8,804)

Gross profit - 9,934 860 10,794

Total administrative expenses (3,818) (7,758) (684) (12,260)

Adjusted EBITDA (2,506) 5,105 453 3,052

Less: depreciation (26) (234) (7) (267)

Less: amortisation and impairment of 
intangible assets - (1,084) (99) (1,183)

Less: share-based payment charge (604) (129) 10 (723)

Less: strategic, integration and other 
one-off items (682) (1,482) (181) (2,345)

Total operating (loss)/profit (3,818) 2,176 176 (1,466)

Finance income 25 5 - 30

Finance cost (2) (81) (3) (86)

Net finance income/(cost) 23 (76) (3) (56)

(Loss)/profit before tax (3,795) 2,100 173 (1,522)

Tax - (38) 43 5

(Loss)/profit for the year (3,795) 2,062 216 (1,517)

Results attributable to  
non-controlling interests - - - -

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (3,795) 2,062 216 (1,517)

Segment assets 4,288 25,740 2,584 32,612

Segment liabilities (1,129) (9,183) (1,292) (11,604)

Segment net assets 3,159 16,557 1,292 21,008

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s non-current assets located in all countries in which the 
entity holds assets.

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

United Kingdom (being the Company’s country of domicile) 12,904 9,161

Europe 7,406 6,599

Rest of World 1,764 21

22,074 15,781

The following table represents major customers where revenues exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue. 

Operating 
segment

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Customer 1 Geospatial - 2,019

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

United Kingdom 9,824 7,635

Europe 5,906 7,153

Rest of World 5,008 4,810

20,738 19,598

The Group’s operations are located in the UK, Ireland, Australia, the United States and mainland Europe. The 
following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical destination.

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

United Kingdom (being the Company’s country of domicile) 12,618 10,127

Europe 6,222 7,947

Rest of World 1,898 1,524

20,738 19,598

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by country of domicile.

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Licences 2,912 3,859

Services 8,501 8,652

Support and maintenance 8,197 7,087

Products 959 -

Other 169 -

20,738 19,598

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by category.
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6(a) Operating loss 

Operating loss is stated after charging:
2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

Wages and salaries 10,042 9,043

Social security costs 1,807 1,834

Other pension costs 966 418

Share-based payment charge 977 723

Staff costs including Executive Directors and  
compromise agreements 13,792 12,018

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - owned assets 427 267

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,474 1,183

Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (284) 205

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 18 -

Loss on disposal of building (asset previously held for sale) 272 -

Operating lease payments 658 689

Research activities expensed 806 1,428

Auditors’ remuneration:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for the 
audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements 119 109

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for  
other services:

– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 20 16

– Audit related assurance services - 12

6(b) Average monthly number of personnel employed (including Executive Directors)

2016 2015

Directors 3 3

Consulting 41 40

Sales and marketing 31 29

Administration 29 23

Professional services 5 -

Support 27 18

Software developers 83 86

219 199

6(c) Directors emoluments 

Details of individual Executive Directors’ remuneration for the year are as follows:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Total Executive Directors’ emoluments 889 1,096

Emoluments 
£’000

Pension 
contributions 

£’000

Total 
2016
£’000

Emoluments 
£’000

Pension 
contributions 

£’000

Total 
2015 
£’000

M Hanke (Note 1) 403 31 434 545 19 564

C Milverton (Note 1) 263 21 284 343 14 357

M Sanderson 158 13 171 158 17 175

824 65 889 1,046 50 1,096

Note 1: There are no non-contractual bonuses included in the 2016 figures above. Included in the 2015 
figures is a non-contractual bonus of £150,000 for Marcus Hanke and a non-contractual bonus of £80,000 for 
Claire Milverton.

No Directors as at 31 January 2016 and 2015 were accruing benefits under a money purchase scheme. 

Details of options for Directors who served during the year are as follows:

Scheme

1 February 
2015 Granted Exercised 31 January 

2016
EMI share 

option

Executive 
unapproved 
share option

Exercise 
price

Number Number Number Number Number Number

M Hanke 3,238,866 - - 3,238,866 3,238,866 - 4.94p

M Hanke 7,000,000 - - 7,000,000 1,090,909 5,909,091 6p

M Hanke - 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 1p

C Milverton 2,429,150 - - 2,429,150 2,429,150 - 4.94p

C Milverton 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 1,575,758 3,424,242 6p

C Milverton - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 1p

M Sanderson 1,619,433 - - 1,619,433 1,619,433 - 4.94p

19,287,449 18,000,000 - 37,287,449 9,954,116 27,333,333

Details of the share option schemes in the table above are included in note 23. The share option charge in the 
year, relating to Directors, is £515,000 (2015: £389,000).
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Details of individual Non-Executive Directors’ fees for the year are as follows: 

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

M Yeoman 27 27

S Berry - 60

D Richards 32 30

N Habgood 8 -

67 117

The Non-Executive Directors invoice for their services, which are paid to their personal consultancy 
businesses.
 
There are no other personnel that meet the definition of key management personnel under IAS 24, other than 
the Directors.

7. Strategic, integration and other one-off items

In accordance with the Group’s policy for strategic, integration and other one-off items, the following charges 
were included in this category for the year:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Costs associated with corporate transactions and other strategic 
costs 689 514

Integration costs associated with Enables IT and Laser Scan Inc. 
business 121 -

Integration costs associated with French and Belgian business - 402

Loss-making contract release in Belgium (254) -

Defined benefit pension provision in France 454 -

Loss on sale of building in Belgium 272 -

Training and other costs associated with the implementation of the 
new ERP system

11 78

Restructuring and redundancy costs of French and Belgian business 75 1,135

Restructuring and redundancy costs of other business 54 88

Release of liability for sales tax exposure (411) -

Other 129 128

Total 1,140 2,345

Corporate transactions and other strategic costs 
relate in the main to the acquisition of 1Spatial’s US 
distributor, Laser Scan Inc. on 3 February 2015 and 
the Enables IT Group on 23 July 2015. The costs 
comprise broker costs, due diligence and other 
advisory fees. In addition, and in line with our stated 
strategy, the Company assessed other potential 
acquisitions during the year and used various 
advisers to assist with this process and the overall 
strategic direction of the Company.

Integration costs incurred on the acquisition of Laser 
Scan Inc. and Enables IT include rebranding costs 
and other costs of aligning operating strategies and 
sales and marketing strategies.

During the second half of the year, the Group 
fundamentally revisited its approach to one of the 
Belgian contracts, identified as loss-making at the 
time of acquisition. Consequently certain future 
expenditure previously considered as bespoke 
to this customer contract was reallocated to 
development of a generic product to form part of 
the broader product offering. As a result, the level 
of provision for the loss-making contract was re-
estimated, resulting in £254,000 being released 
unutilised. As the provision was recorded as part 
of the acquisition balance sheet of the Belgian 
entity, and was therefore not charged to the income 
statement, the release of the provision has been 
credited within strategic, integration and other one-
off items.

During the year we identified additional costs related 
to the defined benefit pension scheme operated 
by 1Spatial France, the subsidiary acquired in 
June 2013. On acquisition, a liability of £67,000 
was recognised on the basis of only recognising 
a liability for those individuals over the age of 55. 
During the year, the Group has revised its approach 
to estimating the liability and in doing so it has been 
assumed that a proportion of individuals below the 
age of 55 will remain with the business through to 
retirement which has given rise to the increased 
cost. Refer to note 19 for further detail.

The building in Belgium classified as an asset held 
for sale in the previous financial year was sold in the 
year, resulting in a loss on sale. Refer to note 15 for 
details of the loss.

During the year, it was ascertained that a potential 
liability, previously provided in the accounts, in 
relation to the treatment of sales tax would no 
longer be required. As such, the liability that had 
been recorded at 31 January 2015 was released.

Other costs include items such as one-off premises 
related costs in the UK and payments to the 
outgoing French audit firm to terminate their 
contract early so that the audit of the Group is 
performed by the same firm. 
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Finance income
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank interest receivable 6 30

Foreign exchange gains on intercompany funding 62 -

Other income 6 -

74 30

Finance costs

Interest expense

 – Bank borrowings (including overdrafts) (16) (24)

 – Hire purchase and finance leases (14) (21)

 – Factoring and bank charges (35) (31)

 – Other - (10)

Foreign exchange losses on intercompany funding (40) -

(105) (86)

Net finance cost (31) (56)

8. Finance income and costs

9. Income tax charge/(credit)

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Current tax

UK corporation tax on income for year 45 22

Foreign tax 39 42

Adjustments in respect of prior years (254) (102)

Total current tax (170) (38)

Deferred tax (note 20)

Origination and reversal in temporary differences (635) 33

Total deferred tax (635) 33

Total tax credit (805) (5)

Factors affecting the tax charge/(credit) for the year:
The tax assessed for the year is lower (2015: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK.  
The differences are explained below:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Loss on ordinary activities before tax (793) (1,522)

(793) (1,522)

Loss on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the effective rate  
of corporation tax in the UK of 20.16% (2015: 21.33%) (160) (325)

Effect of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 230 112

Income not taxable (203) -

Overseas tax rates (higher)/lower than UK tax rates (173) 21

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised 203 623

Benefit of losses brought forward utilised not previously recognised (318) (293)

Research and development relief (62) (43)

Adjustments to corporation tax in respect of prior years (254) (102)

Adjustments to deferred tax in respect of prior years - 12

Impact of change in tax rate (68) (10)

Total tax credit for year (805) (5)

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK changed from 21% to 20% with effect from 1 April 2015. 
Accordingly, the Group’s losses for this financial year are taxed at an effective rate of 20.16%. In the Budget 
on 8 July 2015 the UK government proposed, amongst other things, to further reduce the main rate of UK 
corporation tax to 19% with effect from 1 April 2017 and to 18% with effect from 1 April 2020. These rate 
changes were substantively enacted in the Finance Bill 2015 on 26 October 2015, so the relevant deferred tax 
balances have been remeasured at 19% for the current year end. 



2016 Annual Report

86 87

10. Intangible assets including goodwill
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2016 2015
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£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Goodwill

Opening NBA 339 3,346 3,228 6,913 339 3,346 3,427 7,112

Arising on acquisition 693 614 - 1,307 - - - -

Foreign exchange - - (106) (106) - - (199) (199)

Closing NBA 1,032 3,960 3,122 8,114 339 3,346 3,228 6,913

Impairment tests for goodwill 

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs). The basis of the allocation is made to 
those CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified 
according to operating segment. A summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below.

Basis for calculation of recoverable 
amount

The Group has prepared, and formally approved, a 
one-year plan for each CGU. The detailed plan put 
together by the management team and the Board 
makes judgements and assessments on revenue 
and gross profit expectations. This is from both 
contracted and pipeline revenue streams. It also 
takes account of historic success of winning new 
work and has been prepared in accordance with 
IAS 36, ‘Impairment of Assets’. 

The key assumptions used in the value in use 
calculations were the pre-tax discount rates applied 
(17%) for all CGUs and the growth assumptions for 
each CGU (see below). 

1Spatial (excluding France and Belgium) has 
forecast growth in sales and corresponding costs 
for the year ended 31 January 2017 (22% and 
42% respectively). Growth is forecast at 30% for 
the following two years with 20% growth thereafter. 
1Spatial France and Belgium has forecast an 
increase in sales of 11% for the year ended 31 
January 2017 and an increase in overheads of 17% 
for the year ended 31 January 2017. Growth is 
forecast at 20% for the following two years with 10% 
growth thereafter. Subsequent to the acquisition of 
Enables IT, Avisen has been included with Enables 
IT as a CGU. An impairment review has been 
performed with no impairment identified.

The rates used in the above assumptions are 
consistent with management’s knowledge of the 
industry and strategic plans going forward. 

The assumptions noted above have been given in 
terms of revenue and overhead percentage growth. 
For 2017 and subsequent years, the assumption 
has been provided in terms of growth on the prior 
year EBIT margin. 

The terminal growth rate of 2% does not exceed 
the long-term growth rate for the business in which 
the CGUs operate. Discount rates used are pre-tax 
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant 
segments.

The forecasts are most sensitive to changes in 
revenue and overhead assumptions (taken together 
as the EBIT margin).

There would have to be a reduction in forecast 
EBIT margin by 45% in the year ended 31 January 
2017 for the headroom to be removed on 1Spatial 
(excluding France and Belgium).

There would have to be a reduction in forecast EBIT 
margin by 6% in the year ended 31 January 2017 
for the headroom to be removed on 1Spatial France 
and Belgium.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
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£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

At 1 February 2015 302 131 624 1,057

Additions 2 284 555 841

Disposals - (121) (1) (122)

Arising on acquisition of Enables IT 445 - 259 704

Exchange adjustment 55 - 63 118

At 31 January 2016 804 294 1,500 2,598

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 February 2015 55 44 406 505

Charge for year 76 76 275 427

Disposals - (51) (1) (52)

Exchange adjustment 38 - 42 80

At 31 January 2016 169 69 722 960

Net book amount at 31 January 2016 635 225 778 1,638

Depreciation expense of £427,000 (2015: £267,000) has been charged in administrative expenses.
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£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

At 1 February 2014 1,110 314 69 493 1,986

Additions 38 1 76 143 258

Disposals - (52) (34) (8) (94)

Reclassified as held for sale (1,053) - - - (1,053)

Exchange adjustment (95) 39 20 (4) (40)

At 31 January 2015 - 302 131 624 1,057

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 February 2014 28 (12) (4) 262 274

Charge for year 33 56 28 150 267

Disposals - (51) - (6) (57)

On assets reclassified as held for sale (59) - - - (59)

Exchange adjustment (2) 62 20 - 80

At 31 January 2015 - 55 44 406 505

Net book amount at 31 January 2015 - 247 87 218 552
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12. Interests in associates

Investments in associates are stated at cost less provision for any impairment.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements as set out in 
the Group’s accounting policies in note 2.

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Carrying value recognised in the statement of financial position  
at 31 January 1,577 500

Share of net loss recognised in the statement of  
comprehensive income: 421 -

Details of the associate at 31 January 2016 are as follows:

Name Principal activity

Place of 
incorporation (or 
registration) and 

operation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

Proportion of 
voting power 

held

31 Jan 
2016

31 Jan 
2015

31 Jan 
2016

31 Jan 
2015

Sitemap Limited 
(Note 1)

Location based 
software United Kingdom 49% 49% 49% 49%

Laser Scan Inc.
(Note 2)

Location based 
software United States 47% - 47% -

Note 1: Sitemap Ltd was acquired on 30 January 2015, and brings a new, although complementary, 
opportunity to the Group in its potential to generate revenue from data services. The Group’s share of the 
assets including goodwill of the associate is £227,000 (2015: £500,000).

Note 2: Laser Scan Inc. (“LSI”) – the sole US-based distributor of 1Spatial geospatial products and solutions 
across the Americas – was acquired on 3 February 2015 by 1Spatial Holdings Limited (a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of 1Spatial plc) to provide 1Spatial with long-term security of its Americas distribution channel,  
and ensure continuity of service to key customers. 47 per cent was acquired for cash consideration of 
US$2.25m (£1.5m).

Under the terms of the agreement, 1Spatial Holdings has a call option to acquire the remaining 53 per cent 
of LSI in two tranches, on 1 February 2016 and 2017, for total deferred consideration of US$2.55m, payable 
in cash or satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares in 1Spatial. If the call option is not exercised, the sole 
vendor of LSI has the right to buy-back the holding for US$1.125m, being equivalent to 50 per cent of the 
initial consideration payable pursuant to the transaction.

Refer to the post-balance sheet events disclosed in note 31 for details of the exercise of the call option on 29 
February 2016.

The Group’s share of the assets including goodwill of the associate is £1,350,000 (2015: £nil).

Summarised financial information for associates

The financial information reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associates (and not 
the Group’s share of those amounts).

Summarised statement of financial position

Sitemap Ltd
As at

Laser Scan Inc.
As at

Total
As at

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

Note 3

Current assets 131 188 567 - 698 188

Non-current assets 613 330 965 - 1,578 330

Current liabilities (636) (90) (650) - (1,286) (90)

Net assets 108 428 882 - 990 428

Note 3: The investment in Laser Scan Inc. was made on 3 February 2015, after the 31 January 2015 year 
end. It became a subsidiary in February 2016 when the Group exercised its option to purchase a further 26% 
of the share capital of Laser Scan Inc. (see note 25).



2016 Annual Report

94 95

Sitemap Ltd
For the year ended

Laser Scan Inc.
For the year ended

Total
For the year ended

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

Revenue - - 2,124 - 2,124 -

Gross profit (104) - 1,267 - 1,163 -

Administrative expenses (216) - (1,582) - (1,798) -

Adjusted EBITDA (129) - (89) - (218) -

Less: depreciation (1) - (6) - (7) -

Less: amortisation and 
impairment of intangible assets

(111) - (53) - (164) -

Less: strategic, integration and 
other one-off items

(79) - (167) - (246) -

Operating loss (320) - (315) - (635) -

Net finance cost - - - - - -

Pre-tax loss from continuing 
operations

(320) - (315) - (635) -

Taxation - - - - - -

Post-tax loss from continuing 
operations (320) - (315) - (635) -

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

There are no items in other comprehensive income or expense.

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying value of the interest  
in associates:

Sitemap Ltd
For the year ended

Laser Scan Inc.
For the year ended

Total
For the year ended

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

31 Jan 
2016
£’000

31 Jan 
2015
£’000

Note 3

Opening net assets 428 428 - - 428 428

Net assets at time of 
investment - - 1,197 - 1,197 -

Loss for the period (320) - (315) - (635) -

Closing net assets 108 428 882 - 990 428

Interests in associates  
(49%, 47%)

53 210 415 - 468 210

Amounts charged by group 
companies, capitalised in  
non-current assets

(116) - - - (116) -

Goodwill 290 290 935 - 1,225 290

Carrying value 227 500 1,350 - 1,577 500
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13. Trade and other receivables

The fair value of the Group’s trade receivables and other receivables is the same as its book value stated 
above. No interest is charged on overdue receivables. 

At 31 January 2016, trade receivables of £4,008,000 (2015: £2,609,000) were fully performing. The Group has 
provided fully for all receivables which are not considered recoverable.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines 
credit limits by customer. 

At 31 January 2016, trade receivables of £2,016,000 (2015: £1,124,000) were past due but not impaired.  
The ageing analysis of these customers is set out below. There has been no change in the credit quality 
of these balances; they relate to customers where there is no history of default and are still considered  
fully recoverable. 

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Up to 3 months overdue 1,684 902

3 to 6 months overdue 251 67

6 to 12 months overdue 43 135

> 12 months overdue 38 20

2,016 1,124

Current 2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

Trade receivables 6,069 3,749

Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables (45) (16)

6,024 3,733

Other taxes and social security 119 194

Other receivables 1,645 827

Prepayments and accrued income 3,027 2,699

10,815 7,453

As of 31 January 2016, trade receivables of £45,000 were impaired (2015: £16,000) and provided for. The 
provision relates to a number of small receivables.

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in administrative expenses 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and the Group expects to 
recover these in full. There are no financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated that would otherwise 
be past due or impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable 
noted above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

14. Cash and cash equivalents

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2016  
£’000

2015
£’000

At 1 February 16 16

Movement 29 -

At 31 January 45 16

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Up to 3 months overdue 24 -

3 to 6 months overdue - 16

6 to 12 months overdue 11 -

> 12 months overdue 10 -

45 16

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 4,941 8,196

Financial assets – restricted access account 55 54

4,996 8,250

The fair value of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents is the same as its book value stated above.
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16. Trade and other payables

15. Assets classified as held for sale

In January 2015, the Board resolved to dispose of the freehold building it owned in Belgium (part of the 
Geospatial segment). The building was disposed within 12 months of its classification as an asset held 
for sale, on 18 January 2016 for €1m. Details of the resulting loss on disposal, included within Strategic, 
integration and one-off items (note 7), are shown below:

The Directors consider that the book value of trade payables, taxation, other payables, accrued liabilities and 
deferred income approximates to their fair value at the reporting date.

Current 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Trade payables 2,380 1,892

Other taxation and social security 1,848 1,668

Other payables 588 550

Accrued liabilities 1,448 1,586

Deferred income 4,422 2,605

10,686 8,301

2016  
£’000

Proceeds on sale of building 725

Costs incurred on the sale (39)

Net cash proceeds 687

Carrying amount (958)

Loss on disposal of building (272)

Year ended 
31 January 2016 

£’000

Year ended 
31 January 2015 

£’000

Property, plant and equipment - 994

Total assets classified as held for sale - 994

The deferred tax liability of £315,000 created on the building’s revaluation at acquisition has been released to 
the statement of comprehensive income in the year.

The major classes of assets comprising the asset classified as held for sale are as follows:

99



2016 Annual Report

100 101

Current 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank borrowings - 242

- 242

Non-current

Bank borrowings - 191

- 191

Total borrowings - 433

The maturity of borrowings is as follows: 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Within one year - 242

Between one and two years - 55

Between two and five years - 136

- 433

17. Borrowings

Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings related to loans provided to 1Spatial Belgium SA, which were repaid in full in the year. 
Interest was charged at fixed rates between 2.19 and 4.86%. The loans were originally secured upon the 
building owned by 1Spatial Belgium, which was sold in the year (note 15).

The bank overdraft facility available to the Group at 31 January 2016 was £nil (2015: £nil). After the year end, 
an overdraft facility of £3m has been provided to the Group to support working capital requirements for some 
of the larger contracts that the Group is engaged in.

Fair values

The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying amount as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

Foreign currency

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated in euros.

Provision 
 for long-term 

contracts 
£’000

Restructuring 
provision 

£’000

Other 
termination 
provisions 

£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 February 2015 325 684 142 1,151

Additional provision in the year - 17 - 17

Amounts used during the year (192) (659) (47) (898)

Amounts released during the year (287) - (90) (490)

Acquired in the year 476 - - 476

Exchange difference 4 (24) (5) (25)

At 31 January 2016 326 18 - 344

Current 326 18 - 344

Non-current - - - -

18. Provisions

Provision for long-term contracts
The Group provides for obligations arising under loss-making contracts on identification of the contract being 
loss-making. Provisions of £476,000 on certain long-term support contracts were identified on acquisition of 
Enables IT in the year.

Restructuring provision
The restructuring provision represents the cost of employee terminations in 1Spatial Belgium, announced in 
January 2015; the related cash outflows are expected to be settled by July 2016.

Other termination provisions
The other termination provisions also relate to 1Spatial Belgium employees which were settled in the year.
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19. Defined benefit pension obligation

1Spatial France SAS, operates a defined pension benefit scheme. The French pension system is operated on 
a “pay as you go” basis. Each employee is entitled to receive a basic pension from the Social Security plus a 
complementary pension from the defined contribution schemes ARRCO and AGIRC (AGIRC being solely for 
management). The lump sum retirement allowance must by law be paid by the employer when an employee 
retires. The allowances to be paid to 1Spatial France’s employees are defined by the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement of the R&D, IT and consulting firms (“Syntec”).

The lump sum allowances to be paid on retirement are calculated as follows:

For service up to 5 years nil

For service beyond 5 years
1 month’s basic salary plus 1/5 of a month’s basic 
salary per year of service beyond 5 years

All permanent employees are covered by this scheme. The normal retirement age in France is 60 (62 in 2017) 
but 41.5 years of employment are required. Benefit rights do not vest before the normal retirement age.

The scheme is not externally funded through an insurance contract.

The risks of the scheme are as follows:

(a) Changes in bond yields

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities.

(b) Life expectancy

The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life 
expectancy will result in an increase in the plan’s liabilities.

(c) Inflation risk

The pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities.

A comprehensive actuarial valuation of the company pension scheme, using the projected unit basis, was 
carried out at 31 January 2016 and 31 January 2015 by independent consulting actuaries. The valuations at 
those dates are based on the following assumptions:

2016 2015

Expected rate of salary increases 2.00% 2.00%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.25%

Rate of inflation 2.00% 2.00%

Retirement age – management 65 65

Retirement age – others 63 63

Annual staff turnover rates in both years are as follows:

16 – 24 years 20%

25 – 29 years 15%

30 – 34 years 10%

35 – 39 years 7%

40 – 44 years 5%

45 – 49 years 2%

50 years and above 0%

The turnover rates used are based on statistics over the last few years. These rates project 1.34 resignations 
over the next 12 months.

Reconciliation of scheme liabilities:

£’000

At 1 February 2015 -

Reclassification from other payables (67)

Additional costs identified in the year (444)

Benefits paid 30

Current service cost (33)

Interest expense (7)

Remeasurement gains 83

Exchange difference (19)

At 31 January 2016 (457)
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At 31 January 2015, £67,000 was included within other payables in respect of the defined benefit pension 
obligation operated in 1Spatial France. This has been reanalysed in the year from other payables to the 
defined benefit pension obligation. During the year additional costs of £444,000 related to the defined benefit 
pension scheme were identified and included within strategic, integration and other one-off items.

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumption is:

Impact on defined benefit obligation

2016 Change in 
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25% Decrease of 3.1% Increase of 3.3%

Impact on defined benefit obligation

2015 Change in 
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25% Decrease of 3.3% Increase of 3.4%

Total cost recognised as an expense within Strategic, integration and other one-off items:

2016 
£’000

Additional costs identified in the year 444

Benefits paid (30)

Current service cost 33

Interest cost 7

454

The cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive income is:

2016 
£’000

Remeasurements 83

Deferred tax on remeasurements (27)

56
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£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 February 2014 350 (220) 32 1,639 (37) 1,764

Deferred tax (credit)/charge for year  
in profit or loss (11) 45 (26) 27 (2) 33

Retranslation foreign exchange movement (30) - - (70) - (100)

At 1 February 2015 309 (175) 6 1,596 (39) 1,697

Deferred tax charge/(credit) for year  
in profit or loss (309) (684) 23 492 (157) (635)

Deferred tax charge/(credit) for year  
in other comprehensive income - - - - 29 29

Deferred tax charge/(credit) arising  
on the acquisition of Enables IT

46 (265) - 248 - 29

Retranslation foreign exchange movement - - - 2 - 2

At 31 January 2016 46 (1,124) 29 2,338 (167) 1,122

20. Deferred tax 

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements 
thereon during the current year and prior reporting years.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised against tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of 
the related tax benefit through future taxable benefits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred tax 
assets of £2,671,000 (2015: £3,265,000) in respect to losses amounting to £11,715,000 (2015: £16,092,000) 
that can be carried forward against future taxable income, on the grounds that their utilisation is not probable.

The deferred tax balance is analysed as follows:

Deferred tax 
asset 
£’000

Deferred tax 
liability
£’000

Total 
£’000

Recoverable within 12 months 163 - 163

Recoverable after 12 months 1,128 - 1,128

Settled within 12 months - (713) (713)

Settled after 12 months - (1,700) (1,700)

1,291 (2,413) (1,122)
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21. Share capital, share premium account and own shares held

Allotted, called up and fully paid 2016
Number

2015
Number

Ordinary shares of 1p each 715,499,308 650,415,354

Deferred shares of 4p each 226,699,878 226,699,878

Rights of shares

Ordinary shares

The ordinary shares all rank pari passu, have the right to participate in dividends and other distributions made 
by the Company, and to receive notice of, attend and vote at every general meeting of the Company. On 
liquidation, ordinary shareholders are entitled to participate in the assets available for distribution pro rata to 
the amount credited as paid up on such shares (excluding any premium).

Deferred shares 

The deferred shares do not carry voting rights or a right to receive a dividend. The holders of deferred shares 
will not have the right to receive notice of any general meeting of the Company, nor have any right to attend, 
speak or vote at any such meeting. The deferred shares will also be incapable of transfer (other than to the 
Company). In addition, holders of deferred shares will only be entitled to a payment on a return of capital 
or on a winding up of the Company after each of the holders of ordinary shares has received a payment of 
£1,000,000 in respect of each ordinary share. Accordingly, the deferred shares will have no economic value. 
No application will be made for the deferred shares to be admitted to trading on AIM nor to trading on any 
other stock or investment exchange. 

Number of 
shares

Allotted, called 
up and fully 
paid shares 

£’000

Share 
premium
account

£’000

Own shares 
held 
£’000

At 1 February 2014 and 31 
January 2015 877,115,232 15,572 20,608 (306)

Issue of shares 65,083,954 651 1,692 -

Share issue costs - - (36) -

At 31 January 2016 942,199,186 16,223 22,264 (306)

On 7 May 2015 1Spatial plc issued 32,000,000 
new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
to Azini Capital Partners LLP (“Azini”). The shares 
were subscribed for by Azini at a price of 6p per 
share, raising total gross proceeds of £1.92m for  
the Company.

On 23 July 2015, 1Spatial plc acquired control 
of Enables IT Group plc (now Enables IT Group 
Limited). The purchase consideration was satisfied 
by the issue of 30,831,262 ordinary shares of 
1Spatial plc (1.13 1Spatial plc shares for each 
Enables IT Group plc share) at a price of 5.88p  
per share.

On 30 July 2015, 2,252,692 warrants (issued on  
30 July 2010) were exercised at an exercise price 
of 5.09p.

For details of the Group’s share option scheme, 
refer to note 23.

Own shares

As a result of the disposal of Avisen (Pty) SA 
Limited on 14 July 2010, 3,500,000 shares with a 
nominal value of 5p each were purchased and held 
in treasury. The consideration paid was £306,000. 
On 28 November 2011, the Company sub-divided 
its existing share capital of 5p shares into 1p 
ordinary shares and 4p deferred shares. 

22. Other reserves

Equity-settled employee benefits 
reserve

The equity-settled employee benefits reserve arises 
from the requirement to reflect the fair value of 
share options in existence at the reporting date. 
The equity-settled employee benefits reserve 
includes the fair value adjustment in respect of 
warrants issued in previous years. For further detail 
on share options and warrants see note 23 and 24 
respectively.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arises on the difference 
between the nominal value of shares issued and 
the premium payable to acquire shares in another 
company. The merger reserve in the year arose on 
the issue of 1Spatial plc shares to Enables IT Group 
plc shareholders, in consideration for a 100% equity 
holding in the company.

Reverse acquisition reserve

The reverse acquisition reserve is created in 
accordance with IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’. 
The reverse acquisition reserve arose during 
the year ended 31 January 2010 due to the 
elimination of certain costs in respect of the legal 
parent (1Spatial plc formerly Avisen Plc and Z 
Group Plc) and the legal subsidiary (Avisen Group 
Limited). Since the shareholders of Avisen Group 
Limited became the majority shareholders of the 
enlarged Group, the acquisition is accounted 
for as though there is a continuation of the legal 
subsidiary’s financial statements. In reverse 
acquisition accounting, the business combination’s 
cost is deemed to have been incurred by the legal 
subsidiary.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve arises on the 
translation of foreign entity balances where  
the functional currency is different from the 
presentation currency.
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23. Share-based payments

The total charge for the year relating to share-based 
payment plans was £977,000 (2015: £723,000). 

The EMI share option plan and Executive 
unapproved share option plan was introduced in 
2010. Under the schemes, the Board of Directors 
of 1Spatial Plc can grant options over the shares of 
the Company to Directors and employees. Options 
are typically granted at a fixed price equal to the 
market price of the shares under option at the date 
of grant, although some options granted around 
the time of the acquisition were at a discount to the 
market price. The contractual life of the option was 
10 years. Awards under the scheme are reserved 
for employees who are deemed to be critical to 
the future success of the Company. The vesting 
period of the options typically is three to four years. 
Exercise of an option is subject to continuing 
employment. The differences between the two 
schemes are relatively minor, the main difference 
residing in the definition of an eligible employee. 
Under the EMI scheme, an employee must be a 
full-time employee and a UK resident, whereas 
part-time and non-resident employees can become 
members of the unapproved option scheme. 
Options under both schemes were valued using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value 
per option granted and the assumption used in the 
calculation are shown in the table below.

On 3 March 2015, options over 11,000,000 new 
ordinary shares of 1p each in 1Spatial plc were 
issued to a number of employees under the 
Company's EMI share option plan. These EMI 
options have been used to motivate and tie in key 
staff within the business and will vest over various 
intervals based on a number of different conditions 
including performance targets and time elapsed. 
The EMI options were granted with an exercise 
price of 5.35p. These options were valued using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Grant date 19 February 
2013

16 October 
2013

3 March  
2015

3 March  
2015

Share price at grant 5.38p 8.62p 5.50p 5.50p

Exercise price 4.94p 6p 5.35p 1.00p

Number of option holders 23 4 18 6

Share options granted 18,825,911 18,500,000 11,000,000 26,000,000

Vesting period (years) 3 4 3 2.7

Expected volatility 87.4 – 88.7% 68.5 – 88.5% 63.6 – 66.1% 68%

Option life (years) 10 10 10 3

Expected life (years) 5.5 – 6.5 5.4 – 7 5.5 – 6.5 2.7

Risk-free rate 1.02 – 1.32% 1.75 – 2.18% 1.32 – 1.45% 0.74%

Expected dividends expressed as a 
dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%

Fair value 3.89 – 4.07p 5.78 – 6.98p 3.17 – 3.44p 4.58p

The expected volatility was based on the historic volatility for the last six months of the period prior to the 
grant date. The expected volatility of options granted was derived by taking an average of historic share price 
volatility over those months.

A reconciliation of options over the year to 31 January 2016 is shown below:

In addition, on 3 March 2015, incentive options over 26,000,000 ordinary shares were issued to members of 
1Spatial's senior executive team and certain Board Directors. The Board made the award in consultation with 
its largest shareholders, to incentivise and retain employees. The incentive options vest solely in the event 
of a transaction at a minimum par value per share of 12p, at which point 20 per cent. of the total Incentive 
options will vest, and on a straight-line basis thereafter up to a value per share of 24p, at which point all (100 
per cent.) of the Incentive options will vest. These options were valued using the Stochastic model in order to 
factor in a discount for the probability of achieving the transaction value per share targets.

2016 2015

Number
Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Outstanding brought forward 37,164,980 5.6p 37,772,267 5.6p

Granted during the year 37,000,000 1.1p - -

Forfeited during the year - - (607,287) 5.5p

Outstanding carried forward 74,164,980 4.0p 37,164,980 5.6p

Exercisable as at 31 January 11,495,895 6.0p 8,134,784 6.2p

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 5.7 
years (2015: 8.3 years).  The exercise prices of the outstanding options range between 4.94p and 12.5p.
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25. Business combinations

2016

On 23 July 2015, 1Spatial plc acquired control over Enables IT Group plc (now Enables IT Group Limited) 
by acquiring 100% of its issued share capital for £1,812,878. Enables IT Group is a leading provider of cloud 
computing, managed and professional services and was acquired in order to broaden and enhance the 
enlarged group's managed services and cloud services offering. The goodwill of £1,307,000 arising on the 
acquisition is attributable to the expected synergies and acquired workforce.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for the Enables IT Group and the provisional fair value 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

£’000

Value of cash consideration - issue of equity instruments 1,813

Total purchase consideration 1,813

Number Weighted average 
exercise price

Outstanding brought forward 7,307,454 5.72p

Exercised in the year (2,252,692) 5.09p

Outstanding carried forward 5,054,762 6.00p

24. Share warrants

A reconciliation of warrants over the year to 31 January 2016 is shown below:

Provisional fair values of assets and liabilities at the date  
of acquisition:

£’000

Intangible assets:

– Customer lists 1,307

Property, plant and equipment 704

Cash and cash equivalents 465

Inventories 34

Trade and other receivables 753

Trade and other payables (2,247)

Deferred tax liabilities (34)

Provisions (476)

Total identifiable net assets 506

Goodwill 1,307

Total consideration 1,813

Satisfied by:

- Equity instruments (30,831,262 ordinary shares of 1Spatial plc) 1,813

Total consideration transferred 1,813

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition

 - Cash consideration -

 - Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 465

465

Costs relating to the acquisition of £253,000 have been excluded from the consideration stated above and 
have been recognised as a charge to the statement of comprehensive income within administrative expenses.

The fair value of trade and other receivables is £753,000 and includes trade receivables of £599,000 which is 
expected to be fully collectable.

The acquired business contributed revenues of £3,186,000 and a net profit of £27,000 to the Group for the 
period since acquisition to 31 January 2016. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 February 2015, consolidated 
revenue and consolidated loss for the year ended 31 January 2016 would have been £23,554,000 and 
£147,000 respectively.

2015

There were no business combinations during the year to 31 January 2015.
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£’000

Value of consideration 937

Total purchase consideration 937

Provisional fair values of assets and liabilities at the date  
of acquisition:

£’000

Intangible assets 600

Property, plant and equipment 15

Cash and cash equivalents 20

Trade and other receivables 547

Trade and other payables (488)

Deferred tax liabilities (240)

Total identifiable net assets 454

– Attributable to non-controlling interests 123

– Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 331

Goodwill 606

Total consideration 937

Satisfied by:

- Cash 937

Total consideration payable in cash 937

Post year end

On 3 February 2015 the Group entered into a share purchase agreement to acquire 47% of US distributor 
Laser Scan Inc. (“LSI”), the US-based provider of spatial data solutions for cash consideration of US$2.25m 
(£1.5m).

On 29 February 2016, the Group exercised its call option to acquire a further 26% of LSI for US$1.3m (£0.9m), 
payable in cash, taking the Group’s total holding in LSI to 73%. LSI is the sole distributor of 1Spatial geospatial 
products and solutions across the Americas, which includes significant contracts with the US Census Bureau. 
The acquisition will strengthen 1Spatial’s position within the US market, which is a significant opportunity for 
the Group and will be a key area of focus for the next financial year.

As part of the agreement signed on 3 February 2015, the Group has the right to acquire the remaining 27% of 
LSI from 1 February 2017.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for LSI, non-controlling interests and the provisional fair 
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders 12 (1,517)

Adjustments:

Income tax credit (805) (5)

Net finance cost 31 56

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using  
the equity method

421 -

Depreciation 427 267

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 1,474 1,183

Share-based payment charge 977 723

Integration, strategic and one-off costs 1,140 2,345

Adjusted EBITDA 3,677 3,052

2016
Pence

2015
Pence

Basic (loss) per share 0.00 (0.23)

Diluted (loss) per share 0.00  (0.23)

Basic adjusted EBITDA per share 0.53 0.47

Diluted adjusted EBITDA per share 0.53 0.45

26. Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2016  
Number  

000s

2015  
Number  

000s

Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 691,283 650,415

Impact of share options and warrants 3,593 22,970

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 694,876 673,385

Where there is a loss per share, the share options and share warrants are not dilutive and hence the diluted 
earnings per share is the same as the basic.
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27. Commitments 

Operating lease commitments

The future aggregated minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

No later than one year 849 602

Later than one year but no later than five years 2,588 1,851

Later than five years 929 551

4,366 3,004

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties and 
leased vehicles. Operating lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rates.

28. Contingent liabilities

The Group has given performance guarantees on contracts as follows:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Euro 315 322

Moroccan dirham 38 38

Tunisian dinar 3 3

Total utilised 356 363

Total available 384 1,186

29. Related-party transactions 

(a) Key management compensation
  
The only key management personnel of the Group are the Directors. Details of the compensation of the key 
management personnel are disclosed in note 6(c) to the financial statements.

(b) Controlling party
  
There is no one party which controls the Group.

(c) Company and subsidiary
  
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed.

Sitemap Ltd

There were transactions with associate Sitemap Ltd (acquired on 30 January 2015) during the year relating 
to goods and services provided to it of £512,000 (2015: £396,000). The balance outstanding at the end of the 
year was £449,000 (2015: £79,200).

Laser Scan Inc.  

There were transactions with associate Laser Scan Inc. during the year relating to goods and services 
provided to it of £1,134,000 (2015: £nil *). The balance outstanding at the end of the year was £499,000 
(2015: £nil *).

There were transactions with associate Laser Scan Inc. during the year relating to services provided by it of 
£152,000 (2015: £nil *). The balance outstanding at the end of the year was £89,000 (2015: £nil *).
  
* Laser Scan Inc. has been a 1Spatial reseller for some years, but it is only since its acquisition by 1Spatial 
Holdings Limited on 3 February 2015 that transactions with it are required to be disclosed.
 
(d) Transactions arising from purchases of services
  
There are no such transactions in the year. In the prior year there was a transaction with a related party 
excluding VAT of £207,000 which related to the purchase of a licence with support and maintenance, under 
normal commercial terms, from subsidiary company, Enables IT, where one of the 1Spatial plc Non-Executive 
Directors is a member of the Board. The balance outstanding in respect of this transaction at the end of the 
2015 year was £248,000.

In addition, fees are paid to related parties in respect of the Non-Executive Directors’ services, for which 
details are disclosed in note 6(c) to the financial statements. The amounts owed to these related parties at the 
reporting date are shown below:

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

M Yeoman 2 2

S Berry - 6

D Richards 15 -

N Habgood 8 -

25 8
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Description and 
proportion of

share capital held 
by 1Spatial plc

Description and 
proportion of

share capital held 
by Group

Country of
incorporation
or registration

Nature of
business

1Spatial Holdings Limited Ordinary 100% - England & Wales
Holding 

company

Laser Scan Inc. - Ordinary 47% United States

Location-
based 

software 
development 

and 
consultancy

1Spatial Group Limited - Ordinary 100% England & Wales

Aon Spásúil Limited - Ordinary 100% Ireland

1Spatial Australia Pty 
Limited

- Ordinary 100% Australia

1Spatial Belgium SA Ordinary 100% - Belgium

1Spatial France SAS - Ordinary 100% France

Avisen UK Limited Ordinary 100% - England & Wales
IT 

consultancy

Enables IT Group Limited Ordinary 100% - England & Wales
Holding 

company

Enables IT Limited - Ordinary 100% England & Wales Managed 
ServicesEnables IT Inc. - Ordinary 100% United States

Sitemap Ltd Ordinary 49% - England & Wales
Location-

based 
software

Storage Fusion Limited Ordinary 100% - England & Wales

IT business 
service 

assurance 
solutions

1Spatial US, Inc. Ordinary 100% - United States

Dormant

1Spatial Technologies 
Limited

- Ordinary 100% England & Wales

Avisen Group Limited Ordinary 100% - England & Wales

Socium Limited - Ordinary 100% England & Wales

Solution Minds Ltd - Ordinary 100% England & Wales

Strategy GPS Limited Ordinary 100% - England & Wales

Xploite Limited 
(previously Xploite plc)

Ordinary 100% - England & Wales

30. Subsidiaries and associates of the Group as at 31 January 2016 31. Post balance sheet events

On 29 February 2016, the Group exercised its call 
option to acquire a further 26% of LSI for US$1.3m 
(£0.9m), payable in cash, taking the Group’s total 
holding in LSI to 73%. As part of the agreement 
signed on 3 February 2015, the Group has the right 
to acquire the remaining 27% of LSI from  
1 February 2017.

117
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of 1Spatial plc
Report on the company 
financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, 1Spatial plc’s company financial 
statements (the “financial statements”):

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 31 January 2016 and of 
its cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the 
European Union and as applied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; 
and

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited
The financial statements, included within the annual 
report, comprise:

• the Company statement of financial position as 
at 31 January 2016;

• the Company statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended;

• the Company statement of changes in equity 
for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

 
The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006.

In applying the financial reporting framework, 
the directors have made a number of subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates. In making such estimates, 
they have made assumptions and considered future 
events.
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Opinion on other matter 
prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic 
Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which 
we are required to report 
by exception
Adequacy of accounting records and 
information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or

• adequate accounting records have not been 
kept by the company, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns.

 
We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures 
of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 
made. We have no exceptions to report arising from 
this responsibility. 
 

Responsibilities for the 
financial statements and 
the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the 
directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities Statement in respect of the annual 
report and the financial statements set out on page 
44, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). 
Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the company’s members 
as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or 
to any other person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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What an audit of financial 
statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs 
(UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: 

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 

• the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these areas by 
assessing the directors’ judgements against 
available evidence, forming our own judgements, 
and evaluating the disclosures in the financial 
statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling 
and other auditing techniques, to the extent we 
consider necessary to provide a reasonable 
basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit 
evidence through testing the effectiveness of 
controls, substantive procedures or a combination 
of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, 
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial 
statements of 1Spatial plc for the year ended 31 
January 2016.

Simon Ormiston (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cambridge
4 May 2016

Assets 
Non current-assets Note 2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Goodwill 4 - -

Other intangible assets 4 - 7

Property, plant and equipment 5 222 74

Investments 6 13,704 12,412

Total non-current assets 13,926 12,493

The financial statements on pages 121 to 141 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 4 May 
2016 and signed on its behalf by

 
C Milverton

Director

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 11 16,223 15,572

Share premium account 11 22,264 20,608

Own shares held 11 (306) (306)

Share-based payments reserve 3,327 2,350

Merger reserve 15,347 13,900

Currency translation reserve (125) (125)

Accumulated losses (32,285) (33,760)

Total equity 24,445 18,239

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 1,241 4,430

Total current liabilities 1,241 4,430

Net assets 24,445 18,239

Current-assets

Trade and other receivables 7 11,194 6,629

Cash and cash equivalents 8 566 3,547

Total current assets 11,760 10,176

Company statement of financial position
 
As at 31 January 2016
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2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,475 (1,823)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charge 73 26

Amortisation of intangible assets 7 -

Impairment of investments 1,061 811

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 18 -

Share-based payment charge 689 604

Net foreign exchange movement - (125)

Increase in trade and other receivables (4,565) (3,867)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (3,441) 229

Cash used in operations (4,683) (4,145)

Company statement of cash flows

Year ended 31 January 2016
Note 2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash used in operations (a) (4,683) (4,145)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,683) (4,145)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (284) (70)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 46 34

Investment in associates - (500)

Net cash used in investing activities (238) (536)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 1,940 -

Net cash generated from financing activities 1,940 -

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,981) (4,681)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 3,547 8,228

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 566 3,547

Company notes to the statement of cash flows

(a) Cash used in operations

Non-cash transactions

The principal non-cash transaction is the issue of shares as consideration for the acquisition disclosed in note 
25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Company 
financial statements for the 
year ended 31 January 2016
1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies

Basis of preparation 

The Company financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRIC 
(International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee) interpretations and the Companies Act 
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 
The financial statements have been prepared on 
the going concern basis under the historical cost 
convention in accordance with the Companies Act 
2006. 

See note 2, Adoption of new and revised 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs), in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further information relating to the 
preparation of the financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of Section 408 
of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included 
a statement of comprehensive income in these 
separate financial statements. The profit attributable 
to members of the parent company for the year 
ended 31 January 2016 is £1,475,000 (2015: 
£1,823,000 loss).

The auditors’ remuneration for audit and other 
services is disclosed in note 6(a) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are 

set out below. These policies have been applied 
consistently throughout the year except where 
otherwise indicated.

Going concern

The Directors have formed a judgement that, at the 
time of approving these financial statements, there 
is a reasonable expectation that the Company has 
adequate resources and likely income to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future 
and therefore adopt the going concern basis for the 
financial statements. 

Adoption of new and revised 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs)

The accounting policies adopted in these financial 
statements are consistent with those of the annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 January 
2016, with the exception of the following standards, 
amendments to and interpretations of published 
standards adopted during the year:

(i) New standards, amendments and 
interpretations affecting amounts 
reported in the financial statements

There have been only minor improvements to 
existing International Financial Reporting Standards 
and interpretations that are effective for the first 
time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 
February 2015 which have been adopted by the 
Company with no impact on its results or financial 
position as they impact certain presentational and 
disclosure matters.

(ii) New standards, amendments 
and interpretations adopted with no 
significant impact upon amounts 
reported in the financial statements

The following amendments to existing standards 
and new interpretations became effective in the 
current year, but have no significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements:

Annual improvements 2013 (endorsed for 
annual periods on or after 1 January 2015). The 
amendments include changes from the 2011-12-13 
cycle of the annual improvements project that affect 
4 standards:

• IFRS 1, ‘First time adoption’

• IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’

• IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ and

• IAS 40, ‘Investment property’

(iii) New standards, amendments and 
interpretations issued but not effective 
for the financial year beginning 1 
February 2015 and not adopted early

Annual improvements 2012. These amendments 
include changes from the 2010–12 cycle of the 
annual improvements project, that affect the 
following standards:

• IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’

• IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’

• IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’

• IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 
38, ‘Intangible assets’

• Consequential amendments to IFRS 9, 
‘Financial instruments’, IAS 37, ‘Provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ and

• IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments – Recognition 
and measurement’

Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’ and IAS 3, ‘Intangible assets’, on 
depreciation and amortisation. In this amendment 
the IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-
based methods to calculate the depreciation of 
an asset is not appropriate because revenue 
generated by an activity that includes the use of 
an asset generally reflects factors other than the 
consumption of the economic benefits embodied in 
the asset. The IASB has also clarified that revenue 
is generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis 
for measuring the consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in an intangible asset.

Amendments to IAS 27, ‘Separate financial 
statements’ on the equity method. These 
amendments allow entities to use the equity method 
to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial 
statements.

Significant accounting estimates and 
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and judgements 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed on the following pages.
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Carrying value of investments

The Company assesses investments for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of an investment 
may not be recoverable. If any such indication of 
impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate 
of the recoverable amount. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than 
the value of the investment, the investment is 
considered to be impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. Management has 
used significant estimates and judgements when 
putting together the budgets and projections which 
are used in the value in use calculations. These 
judgements are mainly in relation to projected 
revenues and margins. Refer to note 6 for further 
information.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a number of equity-settled, 
share-based payment compensation plans, under 
which the entity receives services from employees 
as consideration for equity instruments (options) 
of the Company. The fair value of the employee 
service received in exchange for the grant of the 
options is recognised as an expense. The total 
amount to be expensed over the vesting period 
is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted, excluding the impact of any service 
and non-market performance vesting conditions 
(for example, profitability and sales growth targets). 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to vest. 

At each reporting date, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the 
revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement 
of comprehensive income, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity. Where options are exercised, 
the Company issues new shares. The proceeds 
received net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) 
and share premium when the options are exercised. 

The grant by the Company of options over its 
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary 
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital 
contribution. The fair value of employee services 
received, measured by reference to the grant 
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting 
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary 
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the 
rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions of trade and assets 
is recognised at the date control is acquired. 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired at the date of acquisition. If, after 
reassessment, the Company’s interest in the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets exceeds the 
sum of the consideration transferred, the excess 
is recognised immediately in profit and loss as a 
bargain purchase gain. Goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Any impairment is charged to 
the statement of comprehensive income. Gains 
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity 
sold. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units 
for the purpose of impairment testing.

For further information in respect of impairment 
see the Group accounting policies in note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Intangible assets

For intangible assets with finite useful lives, 
amortisation is calculated so as to write off the cost 
of an asset less its estimated residual value over its 
useful economic life as follows:

Software – 3 years

Intangible assets are tested annually for impairment 
and are carried at amortised cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Any impairment is charged to 
the statement of comprehensive income in the year 
it arises. See note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements for further information.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for 
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation. 
These are tested annually for impairment. Assets 
that are subject to depreciation or amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost includes the original purchase price of 
the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the 
asset to its working condition for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to 
write off the cost or valuation of property, plant and 
equipment, less their estimated residual value over 

their expected useful lives on the following basis:

• Motor vehicles -  33% per annum – straight line

• Computer equipment  -  20% to 33% per 
annum – straight line

The Directors annually review the residual value 
and estimated useful lives of the property, plant and 
equipment. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an asset is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised  
in income.

Investments

Investments in group undertakings are carried 
at cost less any provision for impairment. The 
Company assesses investments for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of an investment 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss  
is recognised immediately in the profit and  
loss account.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers 
for services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection is expected in one year or 
less they are classified as current assets. If not, 
they are presented as non-current assets. 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Company will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 
will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and 
default or delinquency in payments are considered 
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indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
amount of the provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the provision 
for impairment of trade receivables, and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income within administrative 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account 
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against 
administrative expenses in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of 
financial position comprise readily accessible cash 
at bank and in hand. Bank accounts held which 
have an original maturity of more than three months, 
or which are subject to significant restrictions 
over access, are not presented as cash and cash 
equivalents. Such amounts are shown separately as 
short-term investments or other financial assets with 
appropriate disclosure of the related terms.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Accounts 
payable are classified as current liabilities if 
payment is due within 12 months or less. If not, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and 
laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date. Taxable profit differs from profit 
as reported in the statement of comprehensive 
income because of items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised 
for all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, 
based on tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax 
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the 
Company expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle that carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which  
they arise. 

Employee pensions

The Company operates a stakeholder pension plan 
for which all employees are eligible. No employees 
have as yet joined the scheme.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised 
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment 
has been established (provided that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the amount of income can be measured reliably).

Share capital 
  
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares, share options or share warrants are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

2. Financial risk management 

The Company’s financial instruments comprise 
amounts due to/from subsidiary undertakings, cash 
and cash equivalents, other receivables and trade 
and other payables. The Company’s approach 
to the financial risks is discussed in note 3, 
Financial Instruments, to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility. The 
Company’s policy is to manage working capital in 
order to ensure that liquidity is maintained so as to 
meet peak funding requirements. 

Foreign currency risk 

As at 31 January 2016 and 31 January 2015, 
there was no significant foreign exchange currency 
exposure to the Company.

Borrowing facilities

The Company has an overdraft facility of £nil (2015: 
£nil) at the reporting date. After the year end, an 
overdraft facility of £3m has been provided to the 
Company to support working capital requirements 
for some of the larger contracts that the Group is 
engaged in.

3. Directors’ emoluments

Details of Directors’ emoluments borne by 
the Company are disclosed in note 6(c) of the 
consolidated financial statements. This includes 
details of the highest paid Director.
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Goodwill
£’000

Software
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 February 2015 and 31 January 2016 120 23 143

Accumulated amortisation 

At 1 February 2015 120 16 136

Amortisation - 7 7

At 31 January 2016 120 23 143

Net book amount

At 31 January 2016 - - -

At 1 February 2015 - 7 7

Goodwill
£’000

Software
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 February 2014 and 31 January 2015 120 23 143

Accumulated amortisation 

At 1 February 2014 and 31 January 2015 120 16 136

Net book amount

At 1 February 2014 and 31 January 2015 - 7 7

4. Intangible assets 5. Property, plant and equipment

At 31 January 2016
Computer 
equipment

£’000

Motor 
vehicles

£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 February 2015 17 114 131

Additions 1 283 284

Disposals - (114) (114)

At 31 January 2016 18 283 301

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 February 2015 17 40 57

Charge for year - 73 73

Disposals - (51) (51)

At 31 January 2016 17 62 79

Net book amount

At 31 January 2016 1 221 222

At 31 January 2015 - 74 74

At 31 January 2015
Computer 
equipment

£’000

Motor 
vehicles

£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 February 2014 17 78 95

Additions - 70 70

Disposals - (34) (34)

At 31 January 2015 17 114 131

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 February 2014 16 15 31

Charge for year 1 25 26

At 31 January 2015 17 40 57

Net book amount

At 31 January 2015 - 74 74

At 31 January 2014 1 63 64
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Total 
£’000

Shares in group undertakings

Cost

At 1 February 2014 27,507

Additions 500

Capital contribution to subsidiaries 119

At 31 January 2015 28,126

Accumulated amounts provided

At 1 February 2014 and 31 January 2015 15,714

Net book amount

At 31 January 2015 12,412

At 31 January 2014 11,793

Total 
£’000

Shares in group undertakings

Cost

At 1 February 2015 28,126

Additions 2,065

Capital contribution to subsidiaries 288

At 31 January 2016 30,479

Accumulated amounts provided

At 1 February 2015 15,714

Impairment 1,061

At 31 January 2016 16,775

Net book amount

At 31 January 2016 13,704

At 31 January 2015 12,412

6. Investments The Company assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable.

Avisen Group Limited transferred its investment in Avisen UK Limited to 1Spatial plc on 26 January 2016, 
prior to its strike-off after the year end. The impairment in the year relates to the write-off of the investments in 
Avisen Group Limited and Avisen UK Limited.

The recoverable amount of the investments held is determined from value in use calculations for each cash-
generating unit (CGU) covering a five-year period. The detailed plan put together by the management team 
and the Board makes judgements and assessments on revenue and gross profit expectations. This is from 
both contracted and pipeline revenue streams. It also takes account of historic success of winning new work. 
Details of the assumptions used are provided in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 566 3,547

Current
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Trade receivables - 34

Amounts owed by group undertakings 11,030 6,462

Taxation and social security 56 48

Other receivables 32 34

Prepayments and accrued income 76 51

11,194 6,629

8. Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of trade and other receivables is consistent with their book values. Amounts owed by group 
undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

7. Trade and other receivables
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Current
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Trade payables 409 264

Amounts owed to group undertakings - 3,301

Taxation and social security 33 22

Other payables 35 13

Accrued liabilities 764 830

1,241 4,430

9. Trade and other payables

The carrying value of trade and other payables is consistent with their book values. It is the Company’s policy 
to settle trade payables within normal credit terms. Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, 
interest free and repayable on demand.

10. Share-based payments

Disclosures in relation to the share options and warrants in issue are made in notes 23 and 24 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Allotted, called up and fully paid 2016
Number

2015
Number

Ordinary shares of 1p each 715,499,308 650,415,354

Deferred shares of 4p each 226,699,878 226,699,878

Rights of shares

Ordinary shares

The ordinary shares all rank pari passu, have the right to participate in dividends and other distributions made 
by the Company, and to receive notice of, attend and vote at every general meeting of the Company. On 
liquidation, ordinary shareholders are entitled to participate in the assets available for distribution pro rata to 
the amount credited as paid up on such shares (excluding any premium).

11. Share capital, share premium account and own shares held

Deferred shares 

The deferred shares do not carry voting rights or a right to receive a dividend. The holders of deferred shares 
will not have the right to receive notice of any general meeting of the Company, nor have any right to attend, 
speak or vote at any such meeting. The deferred shares will also be incapable of transfer (other than to the 
Company). In addition, holders of deferred shares will only be entitled to a payment on a return of capital 
or on a winding up of the Company after each of the holders of ordinary shares has received a payment of 
£1,000,000 in respect of each ordinary share. Accordingly, the deferred shares will have no economic value. 
No application will be made for the deferred shares to be admitted to trading on AIM nor to trading on any 
other stock or investment exchange.

Number of 
shares

Allotted, 
called up 
and fully 

paid shares
£’000

Share 
premium 
account

£’000

Own shares 
held
£’000

At 1 February 2014 and 31 January 2015 877,115,232 15,572 20,608 (306)

Issue of shares 65,083,954 651 1,692 -

Share issue costs - - (36) -

At 31 January 2016 942,199,186 16,223 22,264 (306)

On 7 May 2015 1Spatial plc issued 32,000,000 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company to Azini 
Capital Partners LLP (“Azini”). The shares were subscribed for by Azini at a price of 6p per share, raising total 
gross proceeds of £1.92m for the Company.

On 23 July 2015, 1Spatial plc acquired control of Enables IT Group plc (now Enables IT Group Limited). The 
purchase consideration was satisfied by the issue of 30,831,262 ordinary shares of 1Spatial plc (1.13 1Spatial 
plc shares for each Enables IT Group plc share).

On 30 July 2015, 2,252,692 warrants (issued on 30 July 2010) were exercised at an exercise price of 5.09p.

For details of the Group’s share option scheme, refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Own shares

As a result of the disposal of Avisen (Pty) SA Limited on 14 July 2010, 3,500,000 shares with a nominal value 
of 5p each were purchased and held in treasury. The consideration paid was £306,000. On 28 November 
2011, the Company sub-divided its existing share capital of 5p shares into 1p ordinary shares and 4p  
deferred shares.
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12. Related-party disclosures

Details of remuneration of the key management personnel is contained in note 6(c) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The following recharges to and charges from other group entities, which are related parties, occurred in  
the year.

2016 2015

Recharges
£’000

Charges
£’000

Recharges
£’000

Charges
£’000

Avisen UK Limited 158 (51) 153 (91)

Storage Fusion Limited 136 - 206 -

1Spatial Group Limited 1,697 (469) 1,271 (501)

Aon Spásúil Limited - - 159 -

1Spatial Australia Pty Limited - - 212 -

1Spatial Belgium SA 269 - 273 -

1Spatial France SAS 336 - 507 -

Sitemap Ltd 79 - - -

Laser Scan Inc. 171 - - -

Enables IT Limited 500 - - -

M Yeoman - (37) - (27)

S Berry - (36) - (60)

D Richards - (33) - (30)

N Habgood - (8) - -

3,346 (634) 2,781 (709)

No purchase or sales transactions were entered into between the Company and subsidiary undertakings. 
Transactions with other related parties during the year relate to services provided by a company where one 
of the 1Spatial plc Non-Executive Directors sits on the Board. In addition, fees are paid to related parties in 
respect of the Non-Executive Directors’ services, for which details are disclosed in note 6(c) to the Group 
financial statements. 
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2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Avisen UK Limited - 2,094

Strategy GPS Limited - (702)

Xploite Limited (previously Xploite plc) - (2,600)

Storage Fusion Limited 2,452 2,349

1Spatial Holdings Limited 1,632 814

1Spatial Australia Pty Limited 40 40

1Spatial Group Limited 2,774 1,814

1Spatial Belgium SA 4,736 3,186

1Spatial France SAS 329 221

Enables IT Limited 1,240 -

Enables IT Inc. 172 -

Sitemap Ltd 171 -

Laser Scan Inc. 182 -

M Yeoman (2) (2)

S Berry - (6)

D Richards (15) -

N Habgood (8) -

13,703 7,208

The amounts owed by/(owed to) related parties before provisions are shown below: 13. Subsidiaries and associates of the Company as at 31 January 2016

Description and 
proportion of
share capital 

held by  
1Spatial plc

Country of
incorporation
or registration

Nature of
business

1Spatial Holdings Limited Ordinary 100% England & Wales Holding company

Laser Scan Inc. - United States

Location-based software devel-
opment and consultancy

1Spatial Group Limited - England & Wales

Aon Spásúil Limited - Ireland

1Spatial Australia Pty Limited - Australia

1Spatial Belgium SA Ordinary 100% Belgium

1Spatial France SAS - France

Avisen UK Limited Ordinary 100% England & Wales IT Consultancy

Enables IT Group Limited Ordinary 100% England & Wales Holding company

Enables IT Limited - England & Wales
Managed services

Enables IT Inc. - United States

Sitemap Ltd Ordinary 49% England & Wales Location-based software

Storage Fusion Limited Ordinary 100% England & Wales
IT Business Service Assurance 

Solutions

1Spatial US, Inc Ordinary 100% United States

Dormant

1Spatial Technologies Limited - England & Wales

Avisen Group Limited Ordinary 100% England & Wales

Socium Limited - England & Wales

Solution Minds Ltd - England & Wales

Strategy GPS Limited Ordinary 100% England & Wales

Xploite Limited (previously 
Xploite plc)

Ordinary 100% England & Wales

14. Contingent liabilities

As disclosed in note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, Summary of significant accounting policies, 
the Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under Section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 
in respect of the requirement for audit of certain 100% owned subsidiaries. The Company guarantees the 
liabilities of the company at the end of the year until those liabilities have been settled in full. The contingent 
liability at the year end was £3,249,000 (2015: £1,304,000).
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